## AN INVESTIGATION OF HOPE IN SECOND-YEAR MALE COLLEGE STUDENTS DURING ACADEMIC RECOVERY

BY

## ASHLEY MARIE GRAGIDO

## DISSERTATION

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Education in Education Policy, Organization and Leadership with a concentration in Diversity and Equity in Education in the Graduate College of the University of Illinois Urbana-Champaign, 2021

Urbana, Illinois

**Doctoral Committee:** 

Teaching Associate Professor Denice Ward Hood, Chair Professor Yoon Pak Associate Professor Jon Hale Associate Professor Hyun-Sook Kang

## ABSTRACT

There is an increase of students placed on academic probation after their first year of college yet continue to their second year, with a larger percentage of this population identified as male. Men are also falling behind in graduation rates, and this gap is significantly wider for men of color. This study utilizes Bean & Eaton's (2000, 2001) psychological model of retention and Carl Snyder's (2002) hope theory to explore the experience of men on academic probation during their second year of college. The study used an explanatory sequential mixed-methods design involving quantitative data from an administered survey, followed by student interviews discussing their experiences. The investigation aimed to discover if the three variables attributed to Bean & Eaton's model, academic locus of control, coping skills and self-efficacy influence hopeful thinking, while also exploring narrative student experience for better understanding of this experience. Themes in the literature discuss the challenges surrounding the second year of college, factors that influence students to fall on academic probation, male difficulty surrounding healthy coping strategies, and the importance of several psycho-social variables that impact student persistence. The results indicated a statistically significant relationship between the independent variables and the dependent variable. Additionally, students expressed their second year in recovery as a transitionary process with emphasis on feelings of directionless, loss of motivation, coping skills, the importance of peer relationships and support networks, and the impact of COVID-19 on their learning experience. Academic recovery in the second year is a process that takes longer than one semester, requires institutional support, intentional selfreflection, and the gift of time. Implications for future support include peer programming, student success courses, hands-on major exploration, and policy review.

ii

Mallory and Cameron, you inspire me every day to be better, and remind me that the future is bright, beautiful, inclusive and full of hope.

#### Acknowledgements

I have been thinking about this opportunity for a long time but never really believed that I could or would complete a dissertation in a doctoral program – especially at the University of Illinois Urbana-Champaign, which holds a special place in my heart. Perhaps like the students in this study I suffer from periods of wandering and fear– but believing I can preserve even when I put my own roadblocks in my way. It is my hope and wish that my students find their place in this world and make a difference... but without the students who inspired the direction for this research, I don't know if I would have been able to show so much of myself and of others in one singular document. They are the most important piece, some of them the most resilient among us, and their story deserves to be told.

I would never have gotten here without the love and support of my husband, Joe. You believed in me before I believed in myself, sacrificed sleepless nights and messy houses so I could work tirelessly. When I wanted to quit you pushed me forward. You show me every day the love you have for me and our family, and there are no words to describe how much I love you or how I can show you appreciation for the sacrifices you made so I could spend time reading and writing.

To my parents, the most resilient people I know (my dad mostly) – I know life has been unfair and not easy... this study has a little bit of you in it – you've always been capable and loving, perhaps you will see yourself here and know that I admire the learning you have done and continue to do. Your love of me, Alex and your grandkids are boundless – which is why we keep you around.

To my grandmother, you have pushed me since before I wanted to be pushed to dream the biggest dream and catch the biggest stars. You taught me the most important thing I can do is

iv

grow my mind independent of any man, find a supportive partner, and love my family above all else - I love you.

To my children, one day you will read this and realize that I wrote a dissertation about overcoming challenge when you yourselves were overcoming one of the greatest challenges your little minds and bodies would handle. You are the greatest gift I gave to the world (as long as I don't screw it up).

To my colleagues and work family: Adam there is no way I can communicate the appreciation I have for your friendship and advising as I navigated this – I think I could have done it without you, but it wouldn't have nearly been as good. You are my favorite and most aggravating work partner to have – I owe you a burrito and a Dr. Pepper. Marnie, you are a light – you inspire me every day to be better. You taught me to listen to my 'knowing', and I strive to make you proud in the work that I do. Dawn, thank you for supporting me on this journey since I told you I wanted to go for it (before I even was admitted to a program no less!) The rest of my family and friends at work – it has been a joy learning and growing with you, despite the stress of the last year – you are warriors and the best student advocates I know. Keep fighting – our students need you, even on our hardest days.

Finally, to my committee, thank you for all your insight, reassurance, and feedback; especially Dr. Hood whose own research shows up in this document. I have appreciated your positivity as I navigated writing and doing research during a pandemic, while validating how important this work was. Thank you for letting me do this program, it changed my life.

v

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	1
CHATPER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	8
CHAPTER THREE: METHODOLOGY	
CHAPTER FOUR: RESULTS	47
CHAPTER FIVE: DISCUSSION	72
REFERENCES	92
APPENDIX A: IRB APPROVAL LETTER	117
APPENDIX B: ADULT HOPE SCALE (AHS)	119
APPENDIX C: ACADEMIC LOCUS OF CONTROL SCALE-REVISED (ALC-R).	120
APPENDIX D: COPING STRATEGIES INVENTORY-SHORT FORM (CSI-SF)	121
APPENDIX E: SELF-EFFICACY SCALE (SES)	122

### **CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION**

## 1.1 OVERVIEW OF THE PROBLEM

U.S. higher education is shaped by three philosophical beliefs, the Jeffersonian ideals of limited government, freedom of expression and limited federal control; the belief in capitalism and market competition in the way of students, faculty, social mobility and funding which assumes that "diversity and high quality are best achieved through competition rather than centralized planning" (Eckel & King, 2003, p. iii). However, higher education was founded as an elite, White, male only activity which excluded individuals based on sex, religion, race/ethnicity, and social class. In efforts to make higher education accessible for equitable competition with moral underpinnings, has led to policy changes stratifying the post-secondary environment. Stratification is the expansion of higher education increasing lower-income and minoritized student enrollment which has flooded lower-selective institutions and community colleges while solidifying highly selective hierarchies (Roska et al., 2007). With graduation gaps between minoritized and lower socio-economic people persisting, accountability agendas were implemented in 2008, which encouraged states to take a more proactive role with postsecondary institutions by reviewing time-to-degree efforts. As of February 2020, there were 29 states in which policies tied state funding to graduation rates (Fain, 2020). While there are significant increases in racial and economic diversity within postsecondary environments, the stratification of access is unequal among institutions. Additionally, the increase in diverse populations is not associated to improved graduation outcomes (Astin & Oseguera, 2004; Posselt et al., 2012; Roksa et al., 2007). The systemic issues that exist within the current state of higher education in readiness, access, and graduation rates are symptoms of our larger social network and political environment.

Higher education degrees are important for a technology-oriented society where the economy needs educated skill sets (Seidman, 2012; Tierney, 2000). College graduates are more economically secure, have a better quality of life (physically and mentally), and reach higher levels of income. These ripple effects impact not only individuals but their families and communities (Hagedorn, 2012; Pascarella & Terenzini, 2005; Seidman, 2005; Seidman, 2012).

Increasing access to the public good of higher education is beneficial to everyone—public interests converge when more Americans across racial/ethnic groups earn college degrees and assume societal roles that enhance global competitiveness, decrease crime and poverty, and help the U.S. enact its espoused democratic ideals (Harper et al., 2009, p. 410).

Bourdieu (1986) utilized economic theory to explain how structural constraints and unequal access to resources based on class, gender, and race negatively impacts individuals. Social capital, for example, is the ability to navigate systems which provide educational benefits and positive outcomes in which to carry on *generationally*. Intersectionality asserts the idea that human beings encounter multiple experiences and realities, and our identities are positioned within context of institutional structures and power (Crenshaw, 2015). For minoritized individuals, social/cultural capital and intersectionality highlight the difficult nature of peoples' realities. They also are essential in defining human value, while redefining higher education's perspective on equity. Education is a cornerstone of our societal framework, but a system embedded with questions about the worthiness of minoritized people as educated citizens and legitimate members in higher education due to the shifting socio-political landscape (Harper et al., 2009).

Though enrollment numbers of students of color and lower socio-economic backgrounds have increased due to a *massification* of access because of the rise of for-profit institutions and community colleges, the diversity in the four-year institutional population is still unbalanced. For example, as of 2020, Black students only make up 12 percent of the postsecondary population,

Hispanic students represent 20 percent while 56 percent are White (NCES, 2020). At private institutions, the disproportion is even wider, 64 percent of students are White, while Black and Hispanic students make up 13 percent each (NCES, 2020). Native Americans represent the lowest percentage in the population. In addition, one-third of all college students identify as first-generation, (Cataldi, Bennett, & Chen, 2018). However, first-generation college students are disproportionately overrepresented in students of color, lower socio-economic status and gender groups making the disparities and impact on access and graduation significant for this group (Lohfink & Paulsen, 2005).

As Tinto (1975) and others have argued, students' social and academic engagement are key in predicting graduation. Engagement in those behaviors during the first year are crucial to long-term success. Yet, 20 percent of students end up on academic probation after their first year in college and only 15 percent of students with low GPAs (2.25 or lower) persist to their second year (Adelman, 2006; Schudde & Scott-Clayton, 2016; Tovar & Simon, 2010). It is estimated that 25 percent of students depart after their first year, while an additional 6 to 8 percent of students drop out by the end of their second year, many of these first-generation students (Adelman, 2006; Ishitani, 2006; Skyfactor, 2017). Adelman (2006) found that 20 percent of incoming second-year students were not meeting satisfactory academic progress and 1in 6 had 'low' GPA's (2.25 or lower). Kennedy & Upcraft (2010) conclude that "poor academic performance is one of the major academic issues sophomores face in determining whether to stay at their current college, transfer to a different college, or drop out altogether" (p.35). This means second-year students are resilient enough to return in the face of many barriers such as the implications of satisfactory academic progress on financial aid, institutional requirements to remediate their standing, and potential barriers that disproportionally affect certain populations,

all on top of the developmental milestones that coincide within this year (Schreiner, 2012). Themes in the literature speak to the second year as a time when students experience crises involving social, academic, and personal identity and in return they may not be able to process their thoughts and feelings associated with confusion of identity, major, career, and purpose in life (Kennedy & Upcraft, 2010). When you lay that experience underneath one of academic challenge, it can create additional anxieties and stressors – barriers that ultimately affect long-term success.

According to a recent study from the National Center for Education Statistics (2019), male students who attend bachelor granting institutions are 6 percent more likely to drop out of college and the graduation gaps within the population are staggering. Currently, Black men are graduating at 34 percent within four years, American Indian men at 35 percent, Hispanic men at 50 percent, and White men at 61 percent for first-time students at four-year institutions (NCES, 2018; NCES, 2019). Men are more likely to be placed on academic probation and disqualified from an institution (Mathies et al., 2006).

Thinking beyond the obvious GPA markers and demographic characteristics typically evaluated to predict academic success, practitioner-scholars should consider other underlying factors contributing to graduation disparity so they may support students with more targeted intervention strategies while keeping in context the unequal balance of barriers and challenge students enter college with in the first place. Understanding the quality of students' experiences, behavior, level of engagement in educationally purposeful activities, academic learning outcomes, and personal development offers clues into the *capabilities* and dimensions in which students operate (Kinzie, 2012). The Association of American Colleges and Universities (AAC&U) encourages institutions to consider *engaged inclusivity*. "Engaged inclusivity

transforms the dialogue on inclusion from general acceptance and tolerance of difference to active institutional transformation, based on the belief that the richness of our culture is because of our diversity and a recognition of our common humanity" (AAC&U, 2019). In order to make *engaged inclusivity* a reality the factors surrounding student persistence and retention must be evaluated within a more relevant framework; in fact, better understanding the student experience and the decision to persist allows institutions who are committed to equity a framework for addressing the systemic barriers that exist. In this case, exploring academic probation through the lens of *recovery* with a population falling behind in completion integrates a more asset-based worldview and will potentially uncover factors or barriers that could be rectified in order to offer a more inclusive and equitable approach in closing this gap.

#### **1.2 DEFINITIONS OF KEY TERMS**

This section is meant to clarify key terms throughout this dissertation.

<u>Men/Male</u>: Men or male is used to recognize people who identify as male; acknowledging that gender identity and expression exists on a spectrum.

<u>Academic Probation</u>: Academic probation is a term that usually is a process and/or an academic standing which designates a student at risk for being dismissed from an institution due to the inability to maintain a GPA over a 2.0/4.0 (at some institutions the GPA may be different). The U.S. Department of Education maintains the GPA of 2.0 as a qualifier for students' eligibility for federal student financial aid.

<u>Discontinued/Disqualified:</u> This term is sometimes used interchangeably to describe the process and standing for students who are dismissed by the university for failing to meet GPA requirements.

<u>First-Generation:</u> According to Higher Education Act of (1998), the term first-generation college student means— "(A) An individual both of whose parents did not complete a baccalaureate degree; Or (B) In the case of any individual who regularly resided with and received support from only one parent, an individual whose only such parent did not complete a baccalaureate degree."

## **1.3 PURPOSE STATEMENT AND RESEARCH QUESTIONS**

This study utilized Bean & Eaton's (2000, 2001) psychological model of retention and Carl Snyder's (2002) hope theory to explore the experience of men on academic probation during their second year of college. The study utilized an exploratory sequential mixed-methods design involving quantitative data from an administered survey, followed by student interviews discussing their experiences. This investigation aims to discover if academic locus of control, coping skills and self-efficacy influence hopeful thinking, while also exploring narrative student experience for better understanding. The reason for collecting both sets of data is to offer a deeper understanding of student experience and discover potential variables in which institutions may influence in order to decrease the graduation gap. This research adds to the literature base on academic probation and recovery, second-year student experience, and male academic struggle in college.

## **Research Questions**

- 1. How do locus of control, coping skills, self-efficacy, influence hopeful thinking?
- 2. How do students describe the process of academic recovery? Do any themes explain the results from the initial phase of the study?
  - a) What are the experiences of men of color and White men in academic recovery?

## **1.4 SIGNIFICANCE OF STUDY**

Student retention has been studied for years, with the emphasis mostly on the first year of college rather than the understudied second year. While there is a foundation of second-year literature to reference, it is limited in depth leaving an opportunity to build the second-year knowledge base more holistically. Further, there is almost no research on the recovery process, or the impact of this within the second year of college. Academic recovery adds additional layers of challenge to these transitionary experiences for second years, especially during a global pandemic which has caused additional barriers and challenges for students worldwide. Discovering and appreciating that experience on a deeper level may offer practitioners insight in which to build interventions or programming to facilitate a stronger more effective recovery process, or even better, interventions prior to academic probation in the first place.

There are few studies that exist on men and academic probation, the majority focuses on emotional coping behavior. Focusing on the success of male students is important because they are dropping out of college at higher rates than women. The struggle to complete for men of color is drastic and pervasive throughout the K-16 education system. The depth of understanding the psychological phenomena that occurs for these students and its' potential connection to the narrative experience of academic struggle, are crucial in understanding the academic recovery process in second-year college men. This study's goal is to comprehend multiple complex experiences and perspectives through a variety of frames of understanding, requiring an approach to analyzing the problem through multiple methods. The results can inform potential practices in supporting this population if institutions desire to live up to their goals of lifelong learning, empathy, humanity, equality, and true competitive spirit in its journey towards social enlightenment.

#### **CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW**

## 2.1 ACCESS & GRADUATION

Rooted in the increasingly tight linkage between educational attainment and economic success within the global economy, the external pressure on higher education to increase numbers of college graduates has been building for decades (Humphreys, 2012). Prior to 1970 access to Higher education remained mostly unchanged despite efforts to increase enrollment of women and minorities in traditional post-secondary institutions as well as the increase in women's and Historically Black Universities and Colleges (HCBU), until a multitude of reforms in the way of affirmative action occurred during the 1970s such as several reauthorizations of The Higher Education Act of 1965, Title IX (1972), and eventually, the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, all aimed at improving access for disadvantaged groups to postsecondary environments (Roska et al., 2007). In the landmark case, University of California v. Bakke (1978), the supreme court decided postsecondary institutions could consider race as a factor to achieve a diverse student body, noting that remedying past discrimination was not a legitimate goal of affirmative action instead the economic benefits were. In several cases that followed, Hopwood v. University of Texas (1996), Gratz v. Bollinger and Grutter v. Bollinger (2003), the struggle with issues of diversity, access, and American meritocracy within the postsecondary landscape was evident and these legal decisions emphasized the importance of diverse student bodies in remedying access but yet made no claim in deciding what students should have access to.

In 2008, amendments were made to the Higher Education Opportunity Act, which simplified the federal aid application, required campuses to develop campus safety plans, mandated articulation agreements to four-year institutions for community colleges, set nursing

school capacities, and offered opportunities for student loan debt and public service (Pinhel, 2008). According to Madaus, Kowitt, & Lalor (2012), The HEA of 2008 not only addressed affordability, but increased requirements for accountability, provided support for minority-serving colleges, funding new technology and facilities, in addition to expanding "smaller policies to help low-income students attend and succeed in college" (p.36). These policy adjustments encouraged states to take a more proactive role with postsecondary institutions in order to remediate the inequities and graduation gap. This is now known as the 'The Completion Agenda' (Fain, 2016). These reforms focus efforts to collect more and 'better' data about students' educational progress toward degrees, enact new policies that incentivize increased graduation rates and improve the efficiency of degree production, while tying funding to increased completion rates (Humphreys, 2012). The goal essentially is to increase the number of students graduating due to the overwhelming social benefits of people graduating with higher level degrees, but again, offering no direct pathway to achieve it.

The importance of academic persistence and retention of college students is not a new phenomenon. Retention efforts are well established on campuses throughout the country since retention is used as a key indicator of institutional effectiveness, yet there are many unresolved issues. Retention and graduation rates vary between types of institutions due to various factors including but not limited to admission criteria, financial resources, institutional mission, and size. Though enrollment numbers of students of color and lower socio-economic backgrounds have increased as noted earlier, there are consistent graduation gaps between gender and race/ethnicity at four-year institutions, even wider at community colleges. The 6-year graduation rate, used as the base rate to establish overall success, was 60 percent for first-time, full-time undergraduate students who began at 4-year institutions and slightly higher when removing for-profit colleges

from this metric (Bledsoe, 2018; Kirp, 2019; NCES, 2019). Students who identify as Asian graduate at higher rates than any other racial group at 74 percent with White students following behind at 64 percent. African American and Native American students graduate at 35 and 34 percent respectively (NCES, 2019). Students who identify as male graduate at lower rates in every demographic category, with African American men the least likely group to graduate. While the graduation gap between students of differing racial backgrounds persist, Historically Black Colleges and Universities (HCBU's) and Women's Colleges have higher persistence rates and have shown unique characteristics in being able to maintain high persistence and completion rates (NCES, 2019; Pascarella & Terenzini, 2005; Seidman, 2012).

## 2.2 ACADEMIC AND SOCIAL ENGAGEMENT

It is important to note that one theory of retention/departure dominates most practices institutions and researchers utilize which is Tinto's *Theory of Student Departure* (1975, 1987, 1993). While there now exists a variety of epistemological perspectives that offer practitioners different lenses in which to think about student retention and persistence, institutions and traditional support programs still utilize this framework informing institutional retention practices. Tinto theorized students enter college with unique characteristics with set intentions, commitments, backgrounds, personal attributes, skills, financial resources, dispositions, and various pre-college variables. Each variable can influence student departure, but it is the commitment to the goal of college and the institution which gains full entry to the college experience, leading to graduation (Tinto, 1993). Tinto argued that "integration" academically and socially in college is the most important factor in student retention. He argued that the social and academic systems work interdependently and influence each other while the subculture of an

institution and a student's interaction in that subculture can vary. Tinto (1993) acknowledges that persistence can occur without both social and academic engagement, but that some degree of "membership" is necessary for continued persistence. Tinto recognizes that the quality of interactions between the individual and the institution impacts student agency but necessitates students become members of the institutional culture. He argues that students may fail due to their inability to become "integrated" into the subculture system of the institution despite the many communities that exist (Tinto, 1993). Many scholars test, analyze, and apply Tinto's concept of academic and social engagement, finding that the concept continuously reveals itself as key in student retention and persistence.

Though Tinto is the most utilized and referenced retention theorist (Barefoot, 2004) there are many critiques to Tinto's theory. It is criticized for its lack of complexity and understanding various racial and ethnic groups, adult populations, and commuter students (Pascarella & Terenzini, 2005). Many researchers take issue with the concept of "integration" as another form of cultural assimilation by requiring a student to shed one identity and become the institutions' definition of "normal" (Hurtado & Carter, 1997; Rendón, et al., 2000; Tierney, 1992, 2000). Moreover, the theory originally studied retention prior to the time minoritized people began to be more prevalent within the postsecondary population. Despite the fact Tinto's intention was to create an institutional model of retention, Melguizo (2011) critiques "…it somehow assumes a small and static world and fails to capture the economic, social, political, technological, and global forces" at play (p. 400). For minoritized students, dual socialization is the only way students of color live in a bicultural reality, noting that the experience between two worlds does not occur naturally (Rendón et al., 2000; Rodgers & Summers, 2008).

Institutions focus the majority of their efforts on academic and social engagement efforts, reasoning they can influence those variables because these two key components are proven contributors to student success. Tovar (2013) describes engagement as the amount of time and effort that students place in educationally beneficial practices that promote their learning and development. Engagement also refers to the efforts that *institutions* place in investing and in promoting these activities to effect student success (Kuh et al., 2010).

Highly involved students devote considerable energy to studying, working on campus, participating actively in student organizations, and interacting frequently with faculty members and student peers. Conversely, uninvolved students often neglect studies, spend little time on campus, abstain from extracurricular activities and have little contact with their faculty and peers (Rendón, 1994, p.43).

Astin (1984) explains that involvement occurs on a continuum; student learning is directly proportional to the amount and quality of involvement in those programs; and lastly, the effectiveness of policies and programs promoted by institutions will be assessed by their capacity to positively impact student engagement. Pascarella & Terenzini (2005) found that academic and social engagement by a student positively affects retention regardless of student demographics and precollege characteristics. If a student is engaged, they are also more likely to meet academic outcomes (Astin, 1984, 1993; Friedlander, 1980; Ory & Braskamp, 1988; Parker & Schmidt, 1982; Pascarella & Terenzini, 1991).

The college classroom is a great example of converging both learning and social life. Tinto (2000, 2007) claims that the college classroom is the most important environment in which to incorporate both social and academic engagement activities. The more students are involved in shared learning experiences with their peers they are more likely to invest in their own learning (Tinto et al., 1993). For first generation students, Rendón (1994) discovered that the act of *validation* supported students in their academic and social engagement. It appears that nontraditional students do not perceive involvement as them taking the initiative. They perceive it when someone takes an active role in assisting them. The role of the institution in fostering validation is active- it involves faculty, counselors, coaches, and administrators actively reaching out to students or designing activities that promote active learning and interpersonal growth among students, faculty, and staff (Rendón,1994, p.43).

Tinto (2000) recognizes the importance of validation outside of the classroom, but argues that learning communities within classrooms, with the right conditions, encourage students to seek out and make contact with faculty outside the classroom emphasizing the need for pedagogical training methods where validation can occur. Furthermore, students are influenced in settings which share a variety of perspectives from diverse faculty members and peers, highlighting the need for collaborative learning in the classroom setting where students have a voice. Darling-Hammond (1996) argues that students have a right to experience a true multicultural education because it "gives students access to social understanding by actually participating in a pluralistic community by talking and making decisions with one another and coming to understand multiple perspectives" (Darling-Hammond, 1996, p. 6). Profoundly, exposure to diverse perspectives in the classroom positively impacts students of all racial and ethnic backgrounds (Berger, 2000; García, 2019; Harper & Hurtado, 2007; Ladson-Billings, 1996; Tinto, 2000). The results of such diverse and enriching examples lead students to take responsibility and deep interest in their own education (Darling-Hammond, 1996).

## 2.3 FACTORS INFLUENCING STUDENT PERSISTENCE

## **Pre-College Characteristics on Retention**

There is a large body of literature correlating degree attainment and persistence to a student's background, described as "school grades, gender, ethnicity, parental income and education, and standardized test scores" (Astin & Oseguera, 2012, p.119). The K-16 system is

directly connected to postsecondary education success. Standardized test scores and high school GPA's are indicators of degree attainment, though test scores have been found to be more predictive for White students than other minority groups (Fleming & Garcia, 1998). The fact that high school GPAs are the biggest indicators of how successful students will be in college (Ishitani, 2006; Pascarella & Terenzini, 2005), highlights the issue that many high schools do not serve students equally in education or college preparedness. Students may enter college underprepared by no fault of their own. Adelman (2006) points out that students from the lowest socioeconomic status typically attend high schools that are less likely to offer any Math course above Algebra two, which impacts students being academically prepared for STEM fields. This is important because students who are underserved in academics, time management, and studying techniques are disadvantaged when they get to college and will be more likely to struggle.

Parental education and income are also shown to affect college completion directly and indirectly (Astin 1993b; Astin & Osguera, 2005; Attewell et al., 2012). First-generation students are at highest risk for non-completion due to the likelihood of entering college academically underprepared, have family commitments and responsibilities, are more likely to work, experience financial strain, poor study skills, and struggle with personal identity (Bledsoe, 2018; Humphreys, 2012; Kuh et al., 2005; Orbe, 2008; Melguizo, 2014; Pascarelli & Terezini, 2005). Ishitani (2006) indicates that first-generation students are 8.5 times more likely to drop out of college and more likely to delay postsecondary entry, begin at a 2-year institution, and attend part-time or discontinuously (Chen, 2005).

First-generation students lack higher education social and cultural capital which is the knowledge and understanding what it means to be in college (Tello & Lonn, 2017). This

translates to a lack of knowledge in navigating and understanding the impact of college on their life and how to access retention resources. Bourdieu (1973) argues that the laws of educational markets guide how educational institutions are structured. These hierarchies are created in a manner that mirrors existing social classes. Astin (1993) contends that students from wealthier backgrounds are more prepared and trained for academic environments found in higher education. In essence, there is an upper-class educational expectation in postsecondary environments that leave lower-socio-economic students less prepared to navigate college leaving students experiencing a non-linear approach to college adjustment (Jalomo, 1995). This perspective also asserts idea that educational systems have an extremely important role in optimizing social and cultural capital within students in order for them accumulate greater capital later in life due to the overwhelming benefits of a college degree. "To this end, the critical role of the institution cannot be overstated, yet is often diminished in retention and involvement studies" (Rendón et al., 2000, p.137).

## **Psychosocial Variables on Retention**

Some of the more recent studies focus on the impact of cognitive or psychosocial factors on their role in student persistence have been studied on the areas of self-efficacy, locus of control, and coping skills when dealing with challenges. Self-efficacy and locus control are both psychological processes where people believe they have control over their lives. Self-efficacy is defined by a person's belief in their own capabilities and a product of multiple factors including conceptions of their own intellectual and social abilities as well as perceptions of their success and failures (Bandura, 1989, 1994, 1997; Bean & Eaton, 2000, 2001; Pascarella & Terenzini, 2005). Self-efficacy is related to a person's agency and their ability to make decisions on their own. Self-efficacy thought patterns can be either self-aiding or hindering (Bandura, 1989).

"Human behavior is regulated by forethought embodying cognized goals, and personal goal setting is influenced by self-appraisal of capabilities. The stronger their perceived self-efficacy, the higher the goals people set for themselves and the firmer their commitment to them" (Bandura, 1989, p.1179). According to Bandura (1989) cognitive beliefs directly affect a person's motivation regarding the amount of effort they exert in situations or challenges. If self-efficacy beliefs are low-responsive, depression or anxiety usually follow (Bandura, 1975, 1989). Self-efficacy is also used studied in the context of learning and has been correlated in several studies to academic performance in college. For example, the higher the self-efficacy the more likely a student persists (Multon et al., 1991). Self-efficacy effects the choices a student makes and how a) much effort is put in the face of difficult situations and b) internalized thought patterns from campus experiences (Rodgers & Summers, 2008).

Locus of control is one of the most studied psychological variables in human behavior and is influenced by Bandura's social learning theory. Rotter (1966) states humans can interpret events as being either a result of one's own actions or external factors.

...internal versus external control refers to the degree to which persons expect that a reinforcement or an outcome of their behavior is contingent on their own behavior or personal characteristics versus the degree to which persons expect that the reinforcement or outcome is a function of chance, luck, or fate, is under the control of powerful others, or is simply unpredictable (Rotter, 1990, p.484).

Locus of control has been found to be a significant variable in the academic success of college students. Onwuegbuzie & Daley (1998) found that locus of control was the best predictor of successful study skills in college students and higher self-esteem and internal locus of control are both characteristics of low-SES minoritized students who succeeded in high school (Finn & Rock, 1997). "In this case locus of control was shown to be a determinant of success when other

predictors of attrition such as ethnicity, non-traditional family structure, lack of parent education, and low income were present" (Gifford et al., 2006, p. 20). Carden et al. (2004) explain,

Because internally oriented individuals perceive a connection between their behavior and its consequences, they may tend to have more control over their academic experience than externally oriented individuals. Internally oriented students may then procrastinate less, experience less test anxiety, and achieve higher academically than externally oriented students (p. 581).

This finding is consistent in many additional studies (Pascarella & Ternezini, 2005; Sisney et al.,

2000; Weiner, 1980;).

## Sense of Belonging & Campus Climates

The culture of a campus can significantly impact students experiences and success in

college. Kuh and Whitt (1988) define culture as,

the collective, mutually shaping patterns of norms, values, practices, beliefs, and assumptions that guide the behavior of individuals and groups in an institute of higher education and provide a frame of reference within which to interpret the meaning of events and actions on and off campus (p. 12–13).

Sense of belonging is a student's personal perceptions of genuineness in social relationships or feeling unpressured by "normative" behaviors and traditions surrounding them (Hurtado & Carter, 1997; Tovar, 2013). Students assess their fit through multiple dimensions reflected by student-faculty relationships, student-peer relationships, and student-classroom interactions (Rendón, 1994; Tovar & Simon, 2010). Tovar (2013) states that sense of belonging is inextricably linked to college student retention and critical in retaining students, especially for students of color. Strayhorn (2012) suggests that feelings of belonging are "context-dependent, such that sense of belonging in a particular context (e.g., department, classroom) has the greatest influence on outcomes (e.g., adjustment, achievement) in that area" (p. 20). Confirming that the classroom as Tinto (2017) points out, is the center of students' college academic experiences and influences the psychosocial experiences within the classroom and that of college.

The impact of institutional racial climate and its' impact on academic and social lives of students is heavily studied (Harper & Hurtado, 2007; Hurtado & Carter, 1997; Johnson et al., 2013; Museus & Quaye, 2009; Solóranzo et al., 2000; Steele, 1997). These studies point to an important contextual element, for students living in an environment where racial aggressions occur in and outside the classroom impact students of color's sense of belonging. Moreover, there are many studies that focus specifically on how students perceive the organizational function on a campus which has direct and indirect effects on belonging and other factors (Berger, 2000). The organizational system of the institution begins with the admissions process, financial aid, student services, and other offices that directly connect with students. Further the academic subsystem can be incongruent with student populations and the expectations held by faculty. Faculty view and interact with students who have different levels of cultural capital, assuming students have higher socioeconomic student behavior. This in turn can affect a student's belief in "fitting in" or their sense of belonging in a classroom or at an institution (Berger, 2000.)

Steele (1996) postulated one reason for disparities within academics is due to stereotype threat. Stereotype threat is when a member of a minoritized group is exposed to the threat of the stereotype, such as women in science cannot be successful or African American students are not high achievers. In an interview with Anna Kramer for *The Brown Daily Herald* in 2016, Claude Steele stated, "When a student faces stereotype threat, the anxiety created by that negative assumption increases cognitive stress". This threat is related to a student's self-efficacy. Solóranzo et al. (2000) found that when Black students experience racial micro-aggressions, they began to alienate themselves from academic and social spaces in which those aggressions occur.

constant stress to "assimilate" in a world where a student may feel unwanted or question their abilities can impact persistence (Harper & Hurtado, 2007; Hurtado & Carter, 1997; Johnson et al., 2013; Rendón et al., 2000; Rodgers & Summers, 2008; Solórzano et al., 2000). Even for Tinto (1993) who stresses the student-campus relationship, supports campus climate as crucial in student experience.

## 2.4 STUDENTS ON PROBATION & MALE ACADEMIC STRUGGLE

Most colleges have an academic standard and process to follow when a student does not meet certain GPA requirements, in most cases when a student fails to attain a 2.0. Different institutions practice different policy, but in most cases, students are offered "second chances" in order to redeem themselves. This opportunity involves students completing a set of requirements or steps requiring help seeking. If a student is unable to meet these standards, students are discontinued from the university. There is no clear answer for why a student falls on probation, for some students it may be a single factor and for others multiple. Students on probation have been found to possess a few common characteristics including poor academic preparation (Earl, 1988; Tinto, 1993); low motivation (Abelman & Molina, 2001; Tinto, 1993); poor time management (Earl, 1988; Thombs, 1995; Tinto, 1993); and poor study skills (Astin, 1993; Thombs, 1995). Cohen & Brawer (2002) found that students on probation also possessed an external locus of control frequently blaming outside forces or situations for their dilemmas.

Many students are on probation despite their background circumstances. It does not go unnoticed that first-generation students make up a greater proportion of students who struggle academically (Melguizo, 2011). "Lower-income first-generation students are not only disadvantaged by their parents' lack of experience with information about college, but also by

other social and economic characteristics that constrain their educational opportunities" (Martin Lohfink & Paulson, 2005, p.418). The factors that impact first-generation academic persistence are poor academic preparation prior to college (regardless of high school grades), poor time management, poor study skills, and financial constraints. Students with these backgrounds persist at lower rates than general population students, attend college less than full-time or on a lower academic load (12 units), work at higher rates and more hours, more likely to live with family and commute, and spend more time in the classroom than socializing on campus (Tovar & Simon, 2010). First-generation students are also at higher risk for departure in their second year of college (Ishitani, 2006).

In Young et al. (2015), they note that "students on academic probation were shown to have lower social skills, weaker social networks, less definite goals and to be less trusting, less ethical, and more anxious than students in good standing" (p. 223). As Barouch-Gilbert (2016) investigates, a plethora of negative socio-emotional consequences such as feelings of embarrassment, humiliation, shame, depression, loneliness, and anxiety can occur. Students who fall on academic probation typically do not perceive reality accurately. They can suffer from irrational thinking and have a difficult time controlling priorities (Young et al., 2015). These students also tend to utilize black and white thinking, also known as a fixed mindset (Dweck, 2007). This can impact negative self-talk, effective time management strategies, and priority setting. Students who struggle academically may have difficulties accepting personal imperfection or worse, letting it define their college identity especially for students who feel a high sense of perfectionism or intense pressure framed by family expectation (Young et al., 2015). Therefore, with an already stressed student, negative self-talk leads students to believe that their current identity is unfit or incongruent with that of college.

Students who identify as male are not graduating from college at equal rates compared to their female-identified peers. Fewer men compared to women are enrolled in college (43% vs. 57%) and fewer men persist to graduation within six-years (57% vs 63%) (NCES, 2018). When broken down further, Black men graduate at 34 percent compared to other groups; American Indian at 35 percent, Hispanic men at 50 percent, and White men at 61 percent (NCES, 2019). The University of Richmond in 2006 found that men were four times more likely to be on academic probation than women (Schaller, 2010). Hood (1992) and Hamman (2018) found that Black male attrition was tied to academic dismissal rather than the voluntary decision to drop out suggesting this population continue to push through despite struggle. Lindo et al. (2010) discovered being placed on academic probation after the first year reduces the likelihood of graduation; but, being placed on probation *doubled the rate of departure in college men*. The evidence is enough to acknowledge that men are struggling in college, but why?

One factor for consideration is the psychological difficulties that occur for men within the "traditional" college lifecycle. Olmstead et al. (2016) found that 27 percent of first-year male students meet the clinical cut-off score for depression and 1 in 4 men report higher levels of emotional distress. Early distress in college has a direct negative relationship with those reporting issues in adjusting to college (Olmstead et al., 2016). Caparo (2004) argues men in the first year of college experience an intense developmental separation from "boyhood" which often involves feelings of anxiety, followed by intense grieving. Conley et al. (2020) found this pattern consistent with prior literature on college men engaging in problematic coping behaviors when dealing with transition and stress (Ackermann & Morrow, 2007; Park & Levenson, 2002; Tamres et al., 2002; Zimmermann & Iwansku, 2014). For example, Gold et al. (2000) found men were more likely to engage in self-destructive behaviors through alcohol abuse and further,

Caparo (2004) suggests violent outbursts and anger is a symptom exacerbated by alcohol and drug use. Lyman (1987) argues men need emotional connection, but college men in particular, avoid relationship-oriented coping skills to manage their emotions since intimacy can be considered shameful or "feminine". This theory claims men are less likely to ask for help and engage in positive coping skills which are either a) unknown to them or b) dismissed based on societal pressure for "manhood". Bandura (1989) would argue that asking for help would be considered vulnerable or a 'risk' behavior, therefore for a student with low self-efficacy might engage in more anxiety driven activities. Schreiner (2012) states that a student with strong coping skills and support systems who perceives changes and challenges as necessary to move forward will experience less traumatic stress reactions then those who lack coping skills and support. It could be argued based on the evidence, that college men lack coping skills and face increasing social pressure in the journey into "manhood" which coincides with college, impacting their abilities to adjust when faced with stressors.

#### 2.5 THE SECOND YEAR: CHALLENGES, PURPOSES & IDENTITY

First year academic performance is strongly correlated to persistence to the second year and overall degree attainment (Nora & Crisp, 2012; Pascarella &Terenzini, 2005; Terenzini & Wright, 1987; Titus, 2004;), which makes the first year the most researched year within the college environment. Ishitani (2016) found that gender, race, financial aid, and first-year college GPA all impacted first-year persistence with financial aid significantly effecting persistence to a student's second fall semester. Students are at higher risk for attrition during the second year if their first-year GPA was below a 2.0 at the end of their first year (Ishitani & Desjardins, 2002).

the magnitude of the effect of the first-year GPA was more than doubled for the second year. Every one-point increase in the GPA was associated with decreasing the odds of

dropout by 20% in the first year. Every one-point increase in the first-year GPA was also associated with reducing the likelihood of leaving college during the second year by 44.6% (Ishitani, 2016, p. 278).

Adelman (2006) found that 20 percent of incoming second years were not meeting satisfactory academic progress and 1 in 6 had 'low' GPAs. "Poor academic performance is one of the major academic issues sophomores face in determining whether to stay at their current college, transfer to a different college, or drop out altogether" (Kennedy & Upcraft, 2010, p.35). Theory and research on the second year of college is less developed, but generally notes its own set of challenges in academics, finances, relationships, and decline in institutional support (Gahagan & Hunter, 2006; Schaller, 2010; Tobolowsky, 2008). Students who are struggling academically are interesting because they are resilient enough to return in the face of many barriers such as the financial implications of satisfactory academic progress, institutional requirements, and degree progression, on top of the developmental milestones that coincide within this experience (Schreiner, 2018).

Developmentally, themes in the literature speak to the second year as a time when students experience crises involving social, academic, and personal identity in return they may not be able to process their thoughts and feelings associated with confusion of identity, major, career, and other important purposes (Kennedy & Upcraft, 2010). Moving beyond adolescence individuals develop tools to make choices and respond to the expectations of others in relationships; therefore, the majority of sophomores are in a stage of "focused exploration" where students are seeking meaning and direction in life (Schaller, 2005). Schreiner & Young (2017) found that 21% of sophomores are still unsure of their major by the end of their second year. This developmental transition in the second year also seems to focus on the questions of

"Who am I"? (Schaller, 2010). Schreiner (2012, 2018) has found in her research that significant transitional thinking occurs in the second year around issues of purpose and identity.

Transitions as opposed to adjustment, are periods of time that require significant change as a person moves out of one role, routine, or relationship and into another (Goodman et al., 2006). Schreiner (2012) utilizes Schlossberg's (1989) transition theory to explain these complexities,

Transition begins with an event or nonevent that is perceived as significant by the student: something occurs that was either anticipated or unexpected, or a significant event that was expected to happen does not. As a result, relationships, roles, life routines, and ways of seeing the world begin to change. The impact of such inherently stressful changes depends on the ratio of the student's assets and liabilities at the time, as well as whether there are single or multiple changes occurring simultaneously. A student with a strong repertoire of coping skills and a significant support system who perceives the changes as a necessary part of a positive new future will experience a less traumatic stress reaction than will a student who lacks adequate coping skills and sufficient support (p.3).

Schlossberg (1989) argued that when students experience shifts or transitions, they can feel marginalized or that they do not matter. For a student to navigate the process more smoothly, students "take stock" (Schlossberg, 2008). "Taking stock" is when students assess the transition by considering the timing of the transition, trigger(s) to the transition, previous experiences with change and difficulty, and whether a student is experiencing concurrent stress (Anderson et al., 2012). This is important context because for students who are underserved or minoritized it's hard to assess the amount of stress both as a trigger to and from the recovery experience. For college students in general the transition and adjustments that occur throughout the lifecycle require an element of risk or vulnerability.

The second year of college is found to be a year of transition, a transition which heightens stress due to documented issues of academic challenge and disengagement, career and major indecision, development and identity confusion, and dissatisfaction with college (Kennedy & Upcraft, 2010; Keup et al., 2010; Schreiner & Pattengale, 2000; Schreiner et al. 2012; Tobolowsky & Cox, 2007; Young et al., 2015). However, there are significant external and institutional barriers that affect student's engagement and success during their second year of college. Schreiner (2018) notes,

a) the campus run-around and a lack of attention to service excellence that particularly impacts sophomores; b) difficulty connecting to faculty in meaningful ways; c) inadequate academic advising to address meaning and purpose, which is the major developmental issues of the sophomore year; d) campus systems and policies that hinger thriving among marginalized students, as well as among sophomores in general and e) the removal of almost all forms of campus support from the first year (p.11).

Toblowsky (2008) argues that educators and practitioners should be interested in the sophomore year because it is "the year in which students make many of the decisions that help them succeed in subsequent years, such as clarifying their sense of purpose, making major declarations, and narrowing their career options" (p.60). Schaller (2010) states that increasing academic self-efficacy, student involvement, engagement, and satisfaction; supporting students in major, career and life purpose decisions; engaging in meaningful relationships with faculty and staff; and attending to financial and academic concerns should be the pillars of a second-year experience for students. One-way of building self-efficacy and positive mindset is through self-authorship (Baxter Magolda, 2007). This model treats the student as a knower by (a) validating the student as knower, (b) situating learning in the student experience, and (c) viewing knowledge as co-constructed. "In the sophomore year, students need encouragement to engage in new activities that continue to expand their knowledge of self, the world, and self-in-the-world" (Schaller, 2018, p. 27). Schaller (2018) suggests that reflection is a key learning tool that can take many forms: journaling, mind-mapping, mindfulness, artistic expressions, and reflective sharing.

This approach sits well with Rendón's (1994) validation theory, finding that the act of validation builds self-confidence and sense of belonging in students, most impactfully with first-generation students. Barouch-Gilbert (2016) found that words of affirmation from friends, family, and the institution helped students on probation feel more secure and less embarrassed. Schreiner (2010, 2018) describes the concept of thriving as "being intellectually, socially, and psychologically engaged in the college experience – a goal that leads to persistence but is more holistic and farreaching than whether the student survives to cross the stage at graduation" (Schreiner, 2018, p.12). Schreiner (2010, 2018) illustrates thriving students as engaged in the learning process, able to manage their time and commitments, connect in healthy ways, show appreciation and gratitude for others, are committed to enriching their community, and are optimistic about their future. "With this definition of student success in mind, *thriving* then becomes the desired outcome of the sophomore-year experience" (Schreiner, 2018).

## 2.6 MODELS FOR ACADEMIC RECOVERY

Over the last 60 years many scholars have proposed many theories and models and frameworks to explain student retention. These theories are founded in sociological, organizational, economic, and psychological theory. Consistent themes include individual and institutional factors that play a role in student persistence, and the discussion surrounding student persistence and departure which is traditionally viewed from Tinto's (1975,1993) institutional departure perspective, an ethnocentric western perspective on student experience, emphasizing student responsibility in engaging academically and socially. Institutions seem to fixate on the ideas of academic and social engagement and factors that influence these tenants for student

success without exploring other factors that smaller subsets of the populations may need of attention in order to create a 'resilient' student (or a graduating one).

Fletcher & Sarkar (2013) state that the psychological process of recovery and having resiliency are different concepts. Recovery is characterized as a temporary state. It is triggered by a period of low functioning followed by gradual restoration to a healthy level of functioning, whereas resiliency is often described as the ability to maintain normal levels of functioning. For example, a person experiencing grief demonstrates a recovery pattern; perhaps via depression or anxiety and difficulty completing daily tasks, while a more resilient person may function without these lows (Fletcher & Sarkar, 2013). The dictionary defines 'recovery' as a return to a normal state of health or the action of regaining possession or control of something lost or stolen (Oxford Languages, n.d.). One could argue that academic recovery is indeed a recovery process, healing the grief from a low point in order to return to a healthier functioning level. This is not to suggest that we have yet defined what 'normal health levels of functioning' are, or what that might be in context within student development theory. C.R. Snyder's hope theory and Bean & Eaton's psychological model of retention offer a theory and framework in which to conceptualize a struggling student's experience in order to better understand a students' experience and provide a more informed and culturally relevant definition of recovery and resilience.

## Bean & Eaton's Psychological Model of Student Retention as Framework

Psychological student retention theory is influenced by Tinto's departure theory (1975, 1993) but Bean (1982) and Eaton and Bean's (1995) approach/avoidance model are two attempts to integrate psychological theory into retention theory. In the (1995) model, Eaton & Bean suggest that students experience maladaptive coping strategies to deal with a variety of stressors

negatively impacting motivation and success in college. They argue that when a student sees a transition as an opportunity, students are more likely to use "approaching' coping skills, such as seeking out information and assistance, engage with support system and invest efforts. The opposite, 'avoidance' coping mechanisms are used when students refuse help or avoid situations, use alcohol or drugs, sleep or other activities for escape. Bean & Eaton (2000) built upon this original framework to reframe this concept within a psychological model of retention. Bean & Eaton (2000, 2001) break down their model into a cyclical paradigm which internal and external factors reinforces or challenges students' perceptions of self and the institution, influencing cognitive-emotional behavior. For example, students enter college with many different characteristics, beliefs, coping strategies, motivations, and skills. Students then experience a variety of academic and social environments and interactions. How students handle those interactions (both positive and negative) are broken into three separate areas a) self-efficacy (Bandura 1986, 1998) b) coping process; approach/avoidance skills (Eaton & Bean, 1995) and c) locus of control (Rotter, 1966).

Once a student begins college, they begin interacting with the institution and its representatives in bureaucratic, academic and social realms while continuing to interaction with people outside of the institution -which is an important distinction in understanding stress or influence on student decision making (Bean & Eaton, 2001). A student experiences administrative and academic functions of a system like registration, housing, advising, financial aid, and interactions with faculty, advisors, librarians, tutors, and other students. All of these interactions are academic and social in nature and do not magically result in academic and social engagement (Bean & Eaton, 2001). Bean & Eaton (2000, 2001) argue students experience

emotional reaction to their environments which motivate them to engage in adaptive strategies to handle these things (Bean & Eaton, 2001).

As noted earlier, Bandura's (1997) self-efficacy theory is a tenant within this framework. When a person believes they are capable they gain self-confidence; therefore, if self-efficacy increases – academic and social engagement increase (Bean & Eaton, 2000, 2001). Coping behavior is a person's ability to cope with stress and adapt the ability to engage academically and socially is an outcome of the utilization of coping strategies (Bean & Eaton, 1995, 2000, 2001). While coping and recovery are often discussed in relation to resilience, they are all different constructs and coping skills are closely related to resilience, which is characterized as a level of healthy living when faced with significant stress or adversity (Fletcher & Sarkar, 2013). Finally, the third tenant of the framework is the focus on locus of control. When a student has a higher internal locus of control students' motivation to study and socialize is high. Bean & Eaton (2000, 2001) recognize that the experience a student has is not linear – it is circular and reciprocal. According to Bean and Eaton (2000), when students are academically and socially integrated, they form positive attitudes about the institution which influences their intent to persist, and ultimately, their actual persistence

However, in this model it is not only the consequences of students' interactions with others on campus, but it is also their interactions with others off campus that can shape their sense of belonging (Bean & Eaton, 2000, 2001; Schaller, 2010). If interactions support students' self-efficacy, increase their confidence, motivation, and internal attributions of control, and reduce their stress levels, academic and social engagement are more likely- leading to a likelihood of persistence. In Johnson et al.'s (2014) study used Bean & Eaton's (2000) model which illustrated how campus environments, including racial climate experience, contributed to

psychological experience for students of color at Primarily White Institutions (PWI's). The researchers found this model useful in demonstrating how racial and ethnic diversity is beneficial to White student experiences and for overall persistence at institutions. Rodgers & Summers (2008) found that the Bean & Eaton (2000) model explained the psychological processes of self-efficacy, motivation, and coping related to African American students establishing a sense of biculturalism, a duality necessary for many minoritized students, both in and outside of the college community.

Charalambous (2019) utilized a mixed-method study approach in testing Bean and Eaton's model of student retention, finding that both academic and social self-efficacy are important factors in facilitating first- and second-year success. Bean & Eaton (2000) argue that their model in particular works well for students who struggle academically. Their belief is that students achieve lower GPA's because of issues of motivation, belief in self, environmental stress, lack of healthy coping skills (utilizing avoidance techniques), and a feeling that their grades are out of their control. These factors combined make this framework worthy of consideration.

#### **Snyder's Hope Theory**

Hope theory is rooted from positive psychology and is a way of thinking, with feelings playing an important but complimentary role. Snyder (2002) describes hope theory as anchored in goal setting and attainment. It emphasizes the concept of hope in human's context of doing, success, and capacity to achieve goals (Jevne & Edey, 2003). A goal can be visual images, properties, or verbal descriptions (Snyder, 2002). There are two types of goals in hope theory. The first is a positive or an 'approaching' goal such as earning better grades, sustaining a present goal, or furthering of a goal in which someone has made progress. The second is the

foreshadowing of a negative goal outcome, which in its strongest form reflects stopping something before it happens – in the case of academic probation, students may think "I do not want to be disqualified from the university" so they set a goal of not doing so (or leaning into their predictions).

Hope theory is broken into two parts pathways thinking and agentic thinking (Snyder et al., 1992; Snyder et al., 1995; Snyder, 2002). Pathways thinking is a way of thinking and constructing solutions based on past, present and future representations of experiences. Snyder (2002) suggests that pathways thinking is about linking our present to the imagined future or goal. Agentic thinking is "the perceived capacity of one's pathways to reach the desired goal" (Snyder, 2002, p.252). Snyder has found that high-hope people embrace self-talk agency phrases as, "I can do this," and "I am not going to be stopped" (Snyder et al., 2000). Problems in particular, can be seen as barriers to meet goals. For some, these "problems" can be deflating which impacts both pathway and agentic thinking. For students to be successful in the academic domain, it requires individuals to generate multiple pathways to overcome challenges. Essentially hopeful thinking is the process in which to think about solutions to a challenge or to achieve a goal, and the belief in which the outcome desired can be achieved (Seirup & Rose, 2011; Snyder, 1995). Agency and pathway components of hope are positively related, and both are needed for hopeful thinking (Seirup & Rose, 2011; Snyder et al, 1995; Snyder, 2000; Snyder, 2002).

Profoundly, many studies find correlation between hopeful thinking (pathway thinking & agentic thinking) and self-efficacy (Snyder 1995, 2002). Since self-efficacy is centered on the self-belief that one can perform behaviors agentic thinking mirrors this concept. According to Feldman & Kubota (2015) explain self-efficacy is largely agnostic regarding whether an action

will lead to a goal outcome, where-as hopeful thinking is more specific, the belief that goals are not only achievable, but the plan in which to achieve them is. The ability to build hopeful thinking begins in childhood. A child's ability to build trust in other people guide their abilities in how to trust and understand the cause and effect of relationships (Snyder, 1989,1994,1996, 200b). Snyder's literature argues that children learn how to trust and cope from their parents. This argument indicates that hopeful thinking is learned, and the majority research that currently exists focus on teaching hopeful thinking to adolescents and adults. Hopeful thinking has been associated with many levels of differing success (Snyder et al., 2002; Seirup & Rose, 2011; Marques, Gallagher, & Lopez, 2017) including but limited to mental and physical well-being (Carson et al., 1988; Dufrane & LeClair, 1984; Snyder, 1995; Yarcheski et al., 1994) and notably in academic achievement (Chang, 1988; Ciarrochi et al., 2007; Curry et al., 1997; Irving et al., 1998; Leeson et al., 2008; Snyder et al., 2002; Seirup & Rose, 2011).

Students who were more hopeful were more likely to "engage in self-regulatory behaviors and internalize strategies to obtain their goals of academic success" (Seirup & Rose, 2011, p.5). High-hope students also are more likely to engage in positive coping, such as approaching the problems and self-advocacy versus avoidance and passivity in addition to being more likely to graduate (Eaton & Bean, 1995; Snyder et al., 2002). Chang (1998) and Snyder et al. (2002) both utilized the Adult Hope Scale (AHS) with college students. Both studies discovered more positive outcomes with high-hope students. Chang (1998) tested the Adult Hope Scale (AHS) and Tobin et al.'s (1989) Coping Strategy Inventory (CSI) and found students who reported higher hopeful thinking coped better with stressful academic situations and reported higher problem-solving abilities. Snyder et al. (2002) argue that teaching hopeful thinking on top of metacognitive skills and self-regulated learning strategies can be successful in

more than just the academic domain and could have profound effects on personal lives and mental health. It is also recommended that faculty and teachers have an important role in modeling, creating reinforcement, and encouragement in the pursuit of academic goals (McDermott & Snyder, 2000; Snyder, 1999; Snyder et al., 2002).

#### **Critiques of Psychological Theory**

Psychological theory is influenced by historical, sociopolitical, and cultural factors during the times in which the research was conducted. It is important to acknowledge that these theories emphasize individualism and relational capacities in overcoming stress, which is Westerncentric. Bean & Eaton's (2000) model and Snyder's (1995) model address two different ways of looking at an individual's cognitive processing. Tong et. al. (2010) found that Snyder's Adult Hope Scale (1992) was found to be relevant for situations in which people had control over but found it to be irrelevant when dealing with trauma in a cultural context. Both models under consideration have been tested with a variety of racial and cultural backgrounds but are limited in its' cultural understanding of cognitive thinking within these limits. It is also important to note that testing these theories in this study will not be entirely exhaustive nor conclusionary, as it does not include important socio-economic variables and inequities that the research tells us affects this population. However, extensive research has been conducted on various world-wide cultures regarding concepts of self-efficacy, secure attachments, social support, social justice, and economic development and these concepts are found relevant despite these cultural differences but ask researchers to consider additional research within cultural contexts (Johnson-Powell & Yamamoto, 1997; Unger, 2004).

Fletcher & Sarkar (2013) describe resiliency as a construct with two core principles: adversity (stress) and positive adaption (coping skills/ways of thinking) seen in both

psychological models above. Luthar et al. (2000) state that the adversity is typically viewed as a negative life experience or trauma that is known to be statistically associated with long term negative impact, such as domestic violence or homelessness or in this case academic struggle; however, adversity could also be seen as adjustment to daily stressors that do not create negative life impacts such as a new marriage, new job promotion, or the utilization of new or complex problem solving skills which would necessitate success in appropriate adjustment skills (Fletcher & Sakar, 2013). Essentially, what one aims to see is a person showing 'competence' in the area of recovery or resilience if the desired outcome is related to an aspect of internal well-being (Masten & Oradović, 2006).

Unger (2004) argues that using certain coping skills are culturally, socially, and environmentally informed. There is an overwhelming number of studies highlighting the importance of coping skills and handling adversity (Clauss-Ehlers, 2008; Leipold & Greve, 2009; Sinclair & Wallston, 2004; Tugade et al., 2004;). This literature also discusses the importance of self-efficacy and self-talk, which is why considering Bean & Eaton's (2000) model which centers on the use of coping skills and self-efficacy paired with Snyder's (1992, 2000) theory of hopeful thinking related to internal well-being, match well with what this study aims to find about this population.

Resilience and recovery are comprised of multiple factors; behaviors, styles, assets (or capital) which positively influences an individual's life (Canobell-Sills et al., 2006). Unger (2008) known for his culturally relevant work defines resilience as the following,

In the context of exposure to significant adversity, whether psychological, environmental, or both, resilience is both the capacity of individuals to navigate their way to health-sustaining resources, including opportunities to experience feelings of well-being, and a condition of the individual's family, community and culture to provide these health resources and experiences in culturally meaningful ways (p. 225).

Utilizing this definition of resilience for the case of academically male struggling students, defines the goal of this study to deeply understand the idea of academic resilience and recovery within a cultural frame. Re-defined with this population in mind, academic resilience comes to mean the capacity of students to navigate themselves to beneficial resources, applying positive healthy coping skills, and ability to deeply connect to their families, campus and home communities, and culture in which to enrich their lives. Ultimately understanding academic recovery and resilience across student demographic and within a variety of cultures provides a potential contribution for a more "heterogeneous definition" of these constructs, making it possible "to identify hidden and socially marginalized coping strategies which many come to the notice of those who typically define resiliency from a Eurocentric and middle-class perspective" (Unger, 2012, p. 387).

### **CHAPTER THREE: METHODOLOGY**

## **3.1 POSITIONALITY**

It is important that the positionality (relational power) and the reflexivity of the researcher is considered critical in qualitative research (Steinberg & Cannella, 2012). I am a White female, not only differing in gender identity but in some cases race, from the population being studied. I am both a staff and faculty member at the institution in which the study is being conducted and my professional role is within the sphere of academic recovery. My professional goal is to help students navigate institutional process and personal challenges to build student agency in decision making surrounding persistence and goal setting. It would not be uncommon I may know a potential survey or interview respondent personally due to my role as both staff and faculty member. There is a power differential that exists not only between me and the participant, but also as teacher and student. It is important to note that no potential participant is a current student in any course I am teaching while I conduct this research.

My gender, race, as well as socioeconomic background place me in an outsider position. Looking in and reflecting on these intersections require me to be considerate to not only any power dynamics within the environment, but the cultural and social differences as well. In many ways I am also an insider. I have experience working one-on-one with this population for over 10 years, additionally, I also struggled the first two years in college facing similar issues that many students experience. My background is in counseling which offers experience interviewing and relationship building to gather information of the insider experiences. The insider knowledge of the institution, student population and experiences allow me to naturally build relationships with the participants during the interview phase but as an outsider to ask more meaningful questions specific to the population under consideration. I admit, I am not wholly unbiased in the

research effort. As Probst & Berenson (2014) note, "Reflexivity is generally understood as awareness of the influence of the research process affects the researcher" (p.814). I am aware of the emotional pull in supporting students and the optimistic perceptions of what their subjective experience is both professionally and personally, which informs my opinions and approaches in executing the methods. It is likely I may offer advice or resources at the conclusion of the interview process.

## 3.2 EPISTEMOLOGICAL PERSPECTIVE & MIXED METHODS APPROACH

This study is best viewed from a pragmatic lens which Tashakkori & Teddlie (2015) recommend as an excellent framework for mixed methods approaches. "Pragmatism is not committed to any one system of philosophy or reality, there are many ways of seeing and knowing problems allowing for a duality" (Tashakkori & Teddlie, 2015, p. 24). This approach respects and listens to others but also modifies our belief systems into useable knowledge for social justice (Tashakkori & Teddlie, 2015). Johnson & Onwuegbuzie (2004) state that a pragmatic approach argues that our thoughts, experiences, feelings, emotions, languages, institutions, and cultures are real (constructivist/transformative). It also agrees that objective realities exist (postpositivist); *reality*, therefore, is subjective, intersubjective, and objective thus multiple perspectives in understanding human behavior is needed. "In these ways, a mixed methods way of thinking actively engages us with difference and diversity in service of both better understanding and greater equity of voice "(Greene, 2008 p.20). Berliner (2002) noted that.

...doing science and implementing scientific findings are so difficult in education because humans in schools are embedded in complex and changing network of social interaction. The participants in those networks have variable power to affect each other from day to day, and the ordinary events of life...[which] limits the generalizability of educational findings. (p.19).

Mixed method/pragmatic approaches support the essential need for triangulating data and utilizing multiple techniques in achieving it. Understanding quantitative results expanded by qualitative data, may clarify why a student persists (or not), how a low-hope student experiences recovery (or not), what social factors impact student persistence (or not), and how students utilize coping skills (or not) (Farquhar, 2011). In exploring the complexities of not only the second-year male experience but a student who has already experienced struggle on their way to graduation, asks the researcher to consider this dynamic experience within multiple 'ways of knowing'.

### **Definition of Mixed Methods Research & Explanatory Sequential Design**

Johnson et al. (2007) explains mixed-methods inquiry as "an intellectual and practical synthesis based on qualitative and quantitative research" (p. 128). According to Johnson et al. (2007) mixed methods research (a) partners with the philosophy of pragmatism; (b) follows the logic of mixed methods research (including the logic imported from qualitative or quantitative research); (c) relies on qualitative and quantitative viewpoints, data collection, and analysis; and (d) "is cognizant, appreciative, and inclusive of local and broader sociopolitical realities, resources, and needs" (Johnson et al., 2007, p.129). Creswell & Plano Clark (2018) advise researchers to organize the procedures of multiple methods within a specific research design logic to conduct the study. For a sequential mixed method design, as will be used in this study, researchers first collect quantitative data, analyze the results, and the use those results to create or build their second qualitative phase. "The overall intent of this design is to have qualitative data help explain in more details the initial quantitative results; thus, it is important to tie together or to connect the quantitative results to the qualitative data collection" (Creswell & Creswell, 2018, p. 222).

The rationale for choosing mixed-methods is two-fold. First, quantitative data on its own can be inconclusive in deriving meaning, especially with a population as complex as struggling students. The literature tells us there are multiple reasons for struggle and multiple ways of experiencing it. Quantitative methods allow the researcher to test the usability of certain instruments with this particular population and determine any connections between the variables and its potential impact on student persistence. For example, Bean & Eaton's (2000,2001) model is underutilized in retention literature despite the connection to three important factors previously shown to influence persistence: self-efficacy, coping skills, and locus of control. In particular, it is the emphasis on coping skills that warrants this model for consideration. The research shows that college-aged men lack emotional coping skills and knowing that coping with transition within the first two years of college is fundamental in persistence, necessitates these variables be tested within this student group. Snyder's (1992, 2000) hope theory is rarely used in the field of education but the psychological components pair nicely with the theory put forth by Bean and Eaton. Hopeful thinking requires a person to tackle problems and find solutions – a key component in life and academic sustainability. Essentially, I aimed to see if the three key variables in Bean & Eaton's model relate to hopeful thinking and how those students describe their experiences hopefully leads to a deeper understanding of student resiliency experiences.

### 3.3 SETTING & OVERVIEW OF STUDY

This study explored the concept of hope and persistence in second-year college men who are experiencing academic recovery who attend a low-selective, public, four-year institution that serves about 13,000 undergraduate students. The institution is a Hispanic Serving Institution (HSI) with a demographic breakdown of 47 percent Hispanic/Latinx, 27 percent Caucasian, 9

percent Asian/Pacific Islander, 5 percent Multiracial, 3 percent African American, 1 percent Native American and 54 percent of graduating students are first in their families to go to college. Additionally, 60 percent of students identify as female while 40 percent identify as male. The institution reports 78.8 percent first year retention for the Fall 2018 incoming cohort (79 percent for Pell recipients), a four-year graduation rate of 23.3 percent for the Fall 2016 incoming cohort (18 percent for Pell recipients), and a 57.1 percent 6-year graduation rate for the Fall 2016 incoming cohort (56.8 percent for Pell recipients). The diversity represented here allows for a culturally meaningful representation of experiences within this population.

Astin (1985) created a theory of talent development emphasizing the institution's role in promoting student learning and success. Kinzie (2012) states, "This view of student success recognizes that every student can learn under the right conditions; therefore, the institution must organize its resources and create conditions for teaching and learning to optimize success," (p. xx). If we recognize that students are not one-size fit all, and that institutions must embrace the need to reflect, recognize, and respond (Chickering, 2006) to the diverse talents and needs of the population -- we may be able to influence and drive 'thriving' students. Based on the current literature there are many reasons for why students may struggle academically; however, knowing the psychological mindset and capabilities of students may direct efforts in supporting student motivation and persistence decisions, as well as understanding what leads to academic success or failure. For students to thrive academically requires more than academically remediating students, it requires understanding their motivations and needs. Instead of attempting to gather data on why students leave, Sriram & Vetter (2012) suggest scholars should begin to understand why students stay in order to have more meaningful approaches towards student retention. The primary purpose of the first phase is to evaluate these concepts through the variables locus of

control, coping, and self-efficacy on hopeful thinking within this population, look for trends in enrollment, followed by a deeper qualitative phase employing a semi-structured interview and coding process to understand academic recovery.

### 3.4 PHASE ONE: QUANTITATIVE METHODS

Creswell & Plano Clark (2018) advise researchers to organize the procedures of mixed methods within a specific research design logic to conduct the study. For a sequential mixed method design, as was used in this study, researchers first collect quantitative data, analyze the results, and the use those results to create or build their second qualitative phase. "The overall intent of this design is to have qualitative data help explain in more detail the initial quantitative results; thus, it is important to tie together or to connect the quantitative results to the qualitative data collection" (Creswell & Creswell, 2018, p. 222). That means the data in this study are not operating in isolation and the second phase is built from the first; the phase in which the researcher explores potential meaning of the quantitative data and instrument usability to inform the investigation of experience.

Self-identified male students who were enrolled in the Fall 2020 semester and either a) are currently on academic probation or b) received two or more No Credit (NC) grades in Spring 2020 (due to policy changes for automatic non-punitive grades from the forced move to online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic), were contacted for participation in the study. The sample size was 134 students. Students were incentivized to participate for a chance to win 1 of 4 \$25.00 gift cards for their participation and completion of the study. Through a university survey system (Qualtrics), students were emailed an individual link tied to their student ID# to participate in a cross-sectional survey utilizing previously tested instruments, during the first

week of the Spring 2021 semester which began at the end of January. The recruitment plan included email reminders and personal invitations. Student ID# 's were used only to ensure integrity in the data and to ensure participant integrity as an identifier to track persistence. The instruments used within the survey are Snyder's (1991; 2002) Adult Hope Scale (AHS) (Appendix B), Curtis & Trice's (2013)Academic Locus of Control Scale - Revised (ALC-R) (Appendix C), Tobin et al.'s (1989) Coping Strategies Inventory Short Form (CSI-SF) (Appendix D), and Sherer & Maddux's (1982) Self-efficacy Scale (SES) (Appendix E). All instruments have several studies supporting both validity and internal consistency in their use.

The Adult Hope Scale (AHS) (Snyder et al., 1991) is a 12-item inventory which aims to tap into hopeful thinking in adults on a 4-point Likert continuum, though recent studies have used an 8-point Likert continuum to diversify responses. The AHS ranges from 8 to 32 on a 4point scale, and 64 with the 8-point scale. This study will use the 4-point scale. Four questions are agency thinking, four reflect pathways and four are distracter questions. Some studies show a high correlation with similar psychological processes such as optimism and self-esteem. Cronbach's alpha ranged from .74 to .84 which addresses the internal consistency of the instrument as reliable. The survey for this study will include eight questions (agentic thinking and pathway thinking questions).

Curtis & Trice's Academic Locus of Control for College Students (ALC-R) (2013) was designed with Rotter's (1966) locus of control theory at the heart of its design. Trice (1985) created the instrument for college students to capture the internalization and externalization of academic behaviors. The revised instrument was originally created as 28-item instrument (now 21) in a true/false format with the items clustered into four categories 1) hopelessness 2) distractibility 3) poor attitude and 4) impaired planning. Due to the internal consistency issues

with the instrument, lower-mid calculations for Cronbach's alpha and length of the survey – this study utilized 9 specific questions from each of the four categories which have shown strong factor correlation.

The Coping Strategies Inventory – Short Form (CSI-SF) is a shortened version of the original Coping Strategies Inventory (CSI) (Tobin et al., 1989) which was developed to categorize coping responses based on individual feedback. The instrument utilizes a 2x2 matrix to quantify the strategy being used, such as assessing if one utilizes approaching related actions to stress. The CSI was originally a 78-item questionnaire with a 4-point Likert scale, then shortened to a 15-item questionnaire on a 5-point Likert scale for the short form. The short form utilizes four sub-scales 1) problem-focused engagement 2) problem-focused disengagement 3) emotion-focused engagement and 4) emotional focused disengagement (Addison et al., 2007). Cronbach's alpha ranges from .58 to .72 showing consistent reliability; however, one subscale, emotional focused disengagement was found to be on the lower end of reliability while the others were much higher. The survey used all 15 questions on the 5-point scale.

The Self-Efficacy scale (SES) was created from Self-Efficacy Theory (Bandura, 1977) which asserts that efficacy is a situational or specific belief in oneself. Sherer et al.'s (1992) goal was to develop an instrument that was not tied to any specific situation because clients enter therapy with different levels of efficacy (as with new college students). They reasoned that a general scale would help the therapist tailor to the client's needs. In this case, how the institution tailors support for students. The instrument utilizes two sub scales 1) general self-efficacy and 2) social-self efficacy. The instrument has been highly correlated to measures of locus of control and Croahbach's alpha was found to be .86 for the general self-efficacy and .71 for social self-efficacy. There is a total of 22 questions on the instrument, utilizing a 4-point Likert scale. This

survey utilized an adapted measure of 10 questions encompassing the general self-efficacy portion only on a 4-point Likert scale (Schwarzer et al., 1995).

The survey was available for two weeks. The data were analyzed through descriptive methods. First, the data was reviewed for frequencies and means to explain each individual variable outcome. The data was disaggregated by demographic (e.g., race/ethnicity, socio-economic status, first-generation) to explore for differences or similarities in the data. Additionally, the independent variables of locus of control, coping, and self-efficacy was tested against the dependent variable, hopeful thinking, to look for correlation. According to Creswell (2010), correlation is a statistical test to explore the relationship between two more variables. The method can be done be examining the data sets for correlation that results in *r*, how close two variables are to 1. Correlation only establishes a relationship, not causation (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). This study aims to consider the relationship between the variables as a first step. Once the data is analyzed, themed questions can be framed from the results to inform the second phase of the study.

#### **3.5 PHASE TWO: QUALITATIVE METHODS**

At the end of the survey, respondents were asked if they would be willing to meet for an interview to discuss their experience. Students who expressed interest in meeting for an interview were personally invited by the researcher to meet for an interview to discuss their experience via email. An invitation also went out to the survey respondents inviting them personally to meet for an interview based on their availability and willingness to meet utilizing convenience sampling. The questions in the interview were informed from the results of phase I utilizing a semi-structured format. The interviews were an hour-long interview to discuss their

experience in academic recovery. Each interview was recorded (with student consent) via a web teleconferencing app (Zoom) due to current COVID limitations.

Merriam & Tisdell (2016) describe semi-structured interviews as a technique in which questions are a mix of structured and less-structured guided by a list of issues to be explored. "This format allows the researcher to respond to the situation at hand, to the emerging worldview of the respondent, and to the new ideas on the topic" (p.111). This method was approached from the "romantic" or "emotive" perspective (Roulston, 2010). This method requires the interviewer to establish rapport and empathic connection with the interviewee. This approach requires the researcher to be aware of his or her own subjectivities, interview style, and makes no claim to being objective (Roulston, 2010). Some participants interviewed may be students in which the researcher is already connected with through classes or advising. Therefore, this perspective is a more genuine approach in data investigation. Once completed, the recorded interviews were transcribed with the help of Zoom's automatic transcription service. With the transcripts, the researcher ran through three cycles of coding. The first cycle will follow in vivo coding followed by a second cycle of *pattern coding*. In vivo coding is useful when trying to understand culture and worldview. The primary goal of *in vivo* methods "provide a crucial check on whether you have grasped what is significant" to the participant (Saldaña, 2009, p.75). In an effort to appreciate student voice, *in vivo* coding helps frame the interpretations of terms or meaning participants use rather than what is derived from academic disciplines. The second and third cycles of coding follow a *pattern* coding process which identify emergent themes, configuration or explanations. *Pattern* coding pulls together material into a more meaningful units of analysis and groups summaries into smaller sets, themes, or constructs (Miles & Huberman, 1994). In the final analysis both quantitative and qualitative data are reviewed and analyzed through multiple

lenses and frames for understanding student experience, ultimately to determine if anything can be derived to best inform future approaches to working with this population.

# 3.6 LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY

There are several limitations to the study. The first limitation is the COVID-19 pandemic that currently harms the United States, the location in which the study is conducted, and this population mentally, physically, socially, and financially which is widely documented. It does not go unnoticed that this study was conducted in an unprecedented situation (virtually) with disproportionate impacts on several student groups that exist within the larger population. Additionally, the population is a smaller population that predicted (*N*) as many students did not return for the Fall 2020 semester due to the online learning planned for the 2020-2021 academic year. This population also tends to disengage or can be hesitant to discuss personal challenges that can be overwhelming and discouraging to them personally, noted by my professional experience. There was potential for a low survey response rate (institutional surveys typically have a baseline of 20% response rate) as well as a smaller interview group than planned.

### **CHAPTER FOUR: RESULTS**

#### **4.1 QUANTITATIVE RESULTS**

The survey was administered between January-February 2021. The survey was emailed through a survey software tool (Qualtrics) to 134 potential respondents. To engage potential respondents the researcher sent four different reminder emails with an incentive to win 1 of 4 \$25 visa gift cards to increase the response rate for the survey.

### **About the Respondents**

As noted earlier, typical survey response rate for the university is about 20 percent. The survey administered had approximately 26 responses (18 percent response rate); however, only 19 responses were usable for data analysis, which is about 14 percent of the target audience. The respondent population was 42 percent Hispanic/Latino, 21 percent White/Caucasian, 15.7 percent Asian/Pacific Islander, 10.5 percent Two or More Races, 5 percent Black/African American, 5 percent Native Hawaiian. Eighty-four percent of the survey respondents had parents who attended some college making this sub-population slightly overrepresented in the survey data; however, an interesting note is that 31 percent of that 84 percent reported that it was their mothers who was the identified parent who had college experience versus their father which had none. The breakdown of major was 36 percent of students in Arts, Humanities, and Social Science majors, 26 percent Science and Engineering majors, 24 percent in Business majors, 10 percent undeclared, and > 1 percent Education, Human Services, and Health Science. 100 percent of all respondents were enrolled for the Spring 2021 semester. This is important context because the heart of this study is to understand why a student persists despite academic challenges (adding a global pandemic into the mix as well). The GPA of participants are not reported in this study due to the inflation of grades from institutional policy changes in response

to the COVID-19 pandemic, where grades of F were automatically changed to non-punitive grades of No Credit (NC) in multiple, sequential semesters.

COVID-19 has disproportionally harmed low-income communities of color, young adults' ability to keep consistent employment, and young adults sky-rocketing mental health concerns. In a recent study (Jones et. al, 2021) on mental health in college, more "than half of students (56.8%) reported their ability to do schoolwork decreased as a result of the pandemic, of whom (73.4%) identified their mental state as a reason for this decrease" (n.p.). Additionally, 81.1% of students reported that they (54.1%) and/or someone else in their household (68.9%) lost income as a result of the pandemic." In Son et al. (2020)'s study, 71% of college students indicated increased stress and anxiety due to COVID-19 which included fear and worry about their own health and that of their loved ones, difficulty concentrating, poor sleep habits, decreased socialization, and increased concerns on academic performance. Nearly half of students in the study reported their weekly household expenses increased (Jones et al., 2021). According to a recent survey by the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, 12.5% of 20- to 24-yearolds were unemployed in September 2020, compared to last September's 6.3% unemployment rate of the same age group (Guzman, 2020). Nearly 60 percent of college students surveyed experienced basic needs insecurity sometime in Spring 2020 (Goldrick-Rab et al., 2020). COVID-19 is also occurring while a flourish of horrific scenes has flooded social media sparking intense activism in the Black Lives Matter movement (and others) addressing inequities in areas of education, healthcare, and criminal justice all while many students are struggling to make ends meet. This context is important in understanding potential trauma and the complexities around this study and this specific population. The effects of the pandemic are real, and undoubtedly impacted student responses in this study. Considering 100% of all respondents returned for the

Spring 2021 semester, there is a lot we don't know about who left and why – but, the responses of those who stayed tell us a story about where these students are psychologically despite these circumstances.

In order to evaluate the survey results descriptive statistics such as means, standard deviations, variance, and correlations are all used to explain the data and any potential relationship that exist between variables. A pre-analysis was conducted of the data to ensure completeness and accuracy of entries such as any results with missing responses or non-completion. The quantitative analysis was conducted to look at each individual variable first based on their respective instruments before analyzing any potential relationship with the dependent variable (hope) and independent variables (academic locus of control, coping strategies, and self-efficacy).

#### Academic Locus of Control (ALC) Scale Results

The revised version of the Academic Locus of Control Scale (ALC-R) was administered in the first part of the survey. The scale is an assessment of an individual's locus of control from an academic behavior-oriented lens, assessing motivation for academic skills from an internalized and/or externalized orientation. Students were asked to report if the statement was either true or false for them. If a statement was true, it was rated a score of '0' and if it was rated false it was given a score of '1'. The higher the score the more externalized a student's locus of control. The highest score possible for students on this revised scale was '11' with the lowest being '0'. The mean score for survey respondents was 3.94, indicating that as a group, male second-year students had a more internalized locus of control; however, both the standard deviation and variance for the total score was high indicating a potential consistency and reliability issue mirroring what Curtis & Trice (2013) found when testing the scale with other general student populations. The ALC results for mean results can be viewed in Table 1.

# Table 1

## Academic Locus of Control Mean Results by Question

ALC- Questions	Mean
I have largely determined my own career goals.	.21
There has been at least one instance where social activity impaired my academic performance.	.16
I consider myself highly motivated to achieve success in life.	.32
Doing work on time is always important to me.	.21
I feel I will someday make a real contribution to the world if I work hard at it.	.32
I would like to graduate from college, but there are more important things in my life.	.53
Studying every day is important.	.37
I never feel really hopeless-there is always something I can do to improve my situation.	.36
I plan well and stick to my plans.	.42
I am a good writer.	.42
I would never allow social activities to affect my studies.	.63
ALC – 11 Total	3.94

Students reported higher externalized behavior in questions like, "I would never allow social activities to affect my studies", "I would like to graduate from college, but there are more important things in my life", "I plan well and stick to my plans", and "I am a good writer". Notably, question two not associated to any sub-factor, had the lowest mean score of .16 indicating most students acknowledged "there has been at least one instance where social activity impaired my performance." Students reported being internally motivated when it came to "doing work on time" and "determining their own career goals". White/Caucasian men and Multiracial men were found to be 1-2.5 points above the overall mean score of 3.94 (M = 4.75; M = 6.5), indicating a *potentially* higher externalized orientation for these groups. Based on individual responses, it appears that male students who potentially had a 'poor attitude' towards school were easily distracted and suffered from poor planning skills.

#### **Coping Strategies- Short Form Results**

The second instrument utilized was the Coping Strategies Inventory-Short Form (CSI-SF) which is comprised of 14 questions used to assess an individual's engagement and disengagement behaviors when dealing with stress or challenges. The CSI-SF includes four sub factors and two summary sub-scales assessing engagement and disengagement coping behavior. The sub-scales were: Scale (1) Problem-Focused Engagement; Scale (2) Problem-Focused Disengagement, Scale (3) Emotion-Focused Engagement, and Scale (4) Emotion-Focused Disengagement. Participants were asked how often they engaged in behaviors on a scale of 1-5, with *never* scoring '1' to *always* scoring '5'. Students reported that they were less likely to talk about their problems with friends or family or seek them out for support, they were also less likely to "let their feelings out" (M = 2.52), more likely to spend time alone (M = 3.42) and more likely to avoid problems all together on the question (M=3.21). Overwhelmingly high was the score on questions "I tend to blame myself" (M = 3.2) and "I tend to criticize myself" (M = 4.0) indicating a tendency towards negative self-talk and self-blame. Students reported a higher problem-focused engagement score, holding a positive outlook in situations noted with the higher score on the question "I look for the silver lining or try to look on the bright side of things" (M = 3.84) and "I step back from the situation and try to put things in perspective" (M =

3.42). Table 2 represents each question, the mean response, standard deviation and sub-scale

associated.

# Table 2

CSI-SF Scale Descriptive Results by Question

Question	Mean	SD	Sub-Scale
I make a plan of action and follow it	3.31	1.0	2
I look for the silver lining or try to look on the bright side of	3.84	1.16	2
things			
I try to spend time alone	3.42	1.3	4
I hope the problem will take care of itself	3.21	1.18	3
I try to talk about it with a friend or family	2.31	0.94	1
I try to put the problem out of my mind	2.89	1.1	3
I tackle the problem head on	3.10	1.0	2
I step back from the situation and try to put things into		1.07	2
perspective			
I tend to blame myself	3.21	1.2	4
I let my feelings out to reduce the stress	2.52	1.46	1
I hope for a miracle		0.99	3
I ask a close friend or relative that I respect for help or	2.52	1.4	1
advice			
I try not to think about the problem	2.42	1.16	3
I tend to criticize myself	4.05	1.07	4

There is no overall score for the CSI-SF, scores are broken into (two) scores for total disengagement behaviors and total engagement behaviors seen in Table 3. The mean scoring ranged from 1-5 on both disengagement and engagement behavior scales. Participants scored higher on *disengagement* coping behaviors with a mean score of 3.48 and in the middle range with *engagement* coping behaviors with a mean score of 2.57. Students reported more likely to engage in problem-focused disengagement (M = 3.42) and emotion-focused disengagement (m = 3.56) behaviors and least likely to engage in problem-focused engagement behaviors (M = 2.45)

2.45).

# Table 3

CSI-CF Descri	ptive Statistics	of Scales	& Subscales

Scale and Sub-Scale Measure	Mean	SD	Variance
Problem-Focused Engagement (PFE; 1)	2.45	1.28	1.64
Problem-Focused Disengagement (PFD;2)	3.42	1.10	1.21
Emotion-Focused Engagement (EFE;3)	2.65	1.17	1.37
Emotion-Focused Disengagement (EFD; 4)	3.56	1.22	1.49
Disengagement (D) (1-5)	3.48	1.15	1.32
Engagement (E) (1-5)	2.57	1.22	1.48

Table 4 shows the subscale relationships using Pearson's correlation with 95% confidence intervals for the internal sub-scales within the CSI-SF scale. This was done to test for any relationship or influence on individual scales. While no internal factor correlations were found to be statistically significant, Problem-Focused Engagement and Problem-Focused Disengagement did have a strong relationship, indicating if you utilized disengaging behaviors, you were less likely to use engaging behaviors when addressing problems and solutions.

# Table 4

CSI-SF Correlation of Scales and Subscales

Sub-Scales	PFE	PFD	EFE	EFD
Problem-Focused Engagement (PFE; 1)	1.0	. 24	.02	.07
		p=.07	<i>p</i> =.86	<i>p</i> =.58
Problem-Focused Disengagement (PFD; 2)		1.0	.16	.12
			p = .14	<i>p</i> =.36
Emotion-Focused Engagement (EFE; 3)			1.0	.16
				<i>p</i> =.15
Emotion-Focused Disengagement (EFD; 4)				1.0

## Self-Efficacy Scale (SES)

The SES scale was revised and administered with 6 questions that had high factor correlation (Sherer et al., 1992). The sub-scale of social self-efficacy was removed from

administration of the scale as the focus of the study was on an individual's self-confidence and experiences of self, as well as for time constraints to encourage survey completion. Participants were asked to review each question and respond with how true a statement was for them. The score of '4' represented *definitely true* while the score of '1' represented a response of *definitely false*. The higher the score the higher the individuals' self-efficacy. The highest possible score was 24 and the lowest possible score was 6. The overall score was in the middle to high range of scores, indicating a positive association to self but not overtly confident or extremely high in self-efficacy (M = 16.8). The highest reported score was the belief in being able to handle problems (M = 3.05) and the lowest confidence in sticking to and accomplishing goals (M = 2.36). There was a fairly big variance indicating a significant spread of scores, which is likely due to the small population and low response rate. The descriptive scores of mean, variance, and standard deviation are reported for each question in Table 5.

#### Table 5

Question	Mean	SD
If someone opposes me, I can find means and ways to get what I want.	2.68	0.74
It is easy for me to stick to my aims and accomplish my goals.	2.36	0.68
I am confident that I could deal efficiently with unexpected events.	2.94	0.77
Thanks to my resourcefulness, I know how to handle unforeseen situations.	2.78	0.78
I can remain calm when facing difficulties because I can rely on my coping abilities.	3.05	0.91
No matter what comes my way I'm usually able to handle it.	3.00	0.74
Total (6-24)	16.8	3.84

### SES Scale Descriptive Results by Question

While there were no *major* differences noted by race/ethnicity in the CSI-SF results there were, however, strong differences seen in the SES scale results. Students who identified as

Multiracial had a significantly lower SES score than all other demographic groups. Again,

important to note that survey response was low, and the findings could be skewed by the low *n*.

These differences are noted in Table 6 below.

# Table 6

### SES Scale Mean Results by Race/Ethnicity

Race/Ethnicity	Mean SES Score (6-24)
Hispanic/Latino	18
White/Caucasian	16.5
Asian/Pacific Islander	18.25
Black/African American	16
Multiracial (Two or More Identities)	11

## **Adult Hope Scale (AHS)**

The Adult Hope Scale (AHS), the dependent variable for the main research question, was administered which included all 8 questions. Each question required respondents to decide how true or false a statement was with *definitely true* earning a score of '4' and *definitely false* earning a score of '1'. The highest possible score is a total of 32, with the lowest score being an 8. The total hope scale includes two subscales 1) Agentic Thinking (A) and 2) Pathways thinking (P) both with their own individual scores (16 as the highest score for each subscale). Participants reported a mean score of 24.4 for the overall hope score and mean scores of 11.6 for Agentic Thinking and 13.1 for Pathways Thinking. Indicating a positive outcome for students showing higher hope thinking. The descriptive results can be found in Table 7.

# Table 7

# Adult Hope Scale (AHS) Results by Question

Question	Mean	SD	Subscale (A/P)
I can think of many ways to get out of a jam.	3.31	0.74	Р
I energetically pursue my goals.	2.78	0.78	А
There are lots of ways around any problem.	3.36	0.49	Р
I can think of many ways to get the things in life that are important to me.	3.27	1.01	Р
Even when others get discouraged, I know I can find a way to solve the problem.	3.21	0.91	Р
My past experiences have prepared me well for my future.	3.21	0.85	А
I've been pretty successful in life.	2.8	0.93	А
I meet the goals I set for myself.	2.73	0.93	А
Total Scale Score (8-32):	24.4	5.54	
Agency Subscale (A) Score:	11.6		
Pathways Subscale (P) Score:	13.1		

Students scored highest on pathways thinking questions "There are a lot of ways around any problem" (M = 3.36) and "I can think of many ways to get out of a jam" (M=3.31) indicating a higher strategic thinking process. The lowest scores were on agentic thinking questions surrounding goals "I meet the goals I set for myself" (M=2.73) and "I energetically pursue my goals" (M=2.78) indicating a potential disconnect in confidence and motivation. Similar to the results on the SES scale, strong differences based on race/ethnicity were identified in the AHS results. Students who identified as Multiracial had a significantly lower hope score (M = 15.5) than all other demographic groups. Again, important to note that survey response was low, and the findings could be skewed by the low n. These differences are noted in Table 8 below.

## Table 8

# AHS Mean Results by Race/Ethnicity

Race/Ethnicity	Mean AHS Score (8-32)
Hispanic/Latino	25.87
White/Caucasian	24
Asian/Pacific Islander	24.75
Black/African American	32
Multiracial (Two or More Identities)	15.5

### Hope as the Dependent Variable

To answer the initial research question of how the variables of self-efficacy, academic locus of control, and coping strategies influence hopeful thinking a linear regression analysis was completed to discover if any relationship between the three variables associated with Bean & Eaton's Psychological Model of Retention (2000) and hopeful thinking existed. To assess hopeful thinking, the study utilized Snyder's psychological Hope theory and the Adult Hope Scale (1992) scale to assess this cognitive process. All variables were shown to have a *statistically significant relationship* with hopeful thinking as noted in Table 9.

## Table 9

Hope Scale as Dependent Variable with Independent Variable Correlations

	Self-Efficacy Scale	Academic Locus of	Coping Strategies Inventory
	(SES)	Control (ALC)	Short Form (CSI-SF)
Hope Scale	.832**	74**	.469**
	P=<.0001	p =.0002	p = .004

Note: Pearson's Correlation at 95% confidence intervals.

The relationship between hope and self-efficacy indicated a statistically significant positive correlation (r = .832, p = <.0001) indicating students who had higher self-efficacy scores also had higher hopeful thinking scores. This is shown to be the strongest relationship of all three

variables and mirrors several studies on the high correlation between the SES and AHS in other studies (Feldman & Kubota, 2015). The next significant relationship is that of hope and academic locus of control (r = -.74, p = .0002). Higher hope thinking students reported a more internalized orientation and lower hope students report a more externalized orientation (r = -.74) suggesting higher hope students are more internally motivated to complete their work or meet academic goals. Lastly, there was a significant relationship between students who utilized more engagement type behaviors such as seeking help or approaching problems and with higher hope thinking (r = .469). Since all students who responded to the survey had persisted to Spring 2021, it appears that locus of control, coping strategies, self-efficacy, and hopeful thinking all appear to be valid psychological variables that present for students that persist. Based on the quantitative data, Bean & Eaton's (2000;2001) model may be an effective model in which to consider this population's engagement. Snyder's hope theory as its own variable is not enough to understand academically struggling students without additional context. Therefore, additional research and understanding was needed from the qualitative phase to uncover additional details, barriers, opportunities, and successes throughout students' experiences.

#### **4.2 QUALITATIVE RESULTS**

Five students opted-in to interview from the survey and scheduled interview times; however, only three students followed through to meet for one-on-one interviews to discuss their experiences. Students were incentivized for the interview for a \$15 gift card to a local restaurant and agreed to meet via a web conferencing app (Zoom) which was recorded and provided a transcript of the conversation. The interview was conducted using semi-structured questions and each interview lasted about 45 minutes to 1 hour. The questions were informed based on the

results of the first phase with an emphasis understanding coping skill behavior, strategic thinking patterns, and motivation.

# **About the Interviewees**

Three students who identify as male who began college in Fall 2019 and currently enrolled in Spring 2021 were interviewed for this study. Each student has been given an alias for anonymity. Additional information on each participant is detailed below in Table 10.

# Table 10

Student	Race/Ethnicity	Current GPA*	First Semester with Non-	Current Major
			Passing Grade	
"Adrian"	Multiracial	1.59	Fall 2019	Business
"Michael"	White/Caucasian	2.32	Fall 2019	Environmental
				Science
"James"	Asian/Pacific Islander	2.05	Fall 2019	Undeclared

#### Interviewed Student Details

Note: GPA with inflation due to the benefit of grades of 'NC'.

# **Qualitative Themes**

The data analysis conducted required four rounds of coding and analysis of each interview transcript. The first phase used *in vivo* coding followed by three rounds of *pattern* coding. Despite the small group who was interviewed, there were many similarities and consistencies in the interviews which allowed for a more complex and richer understanding in these areas. Five larger themes emerged within each interview; these themes continuously reveled themselves in each conversation. These themes were (1) feelings of directionless, (2) social engagement, (3) coping behaviors, (4) COVID-19, and (5) support networks.

## **Feelings of Directionless**

One significant theme that emerged from the interviews were feelings of lack of purpose or direction. All three students indicated that outside factors or people influenced their decision to go to college, indicating an externalized orientation in their attendance to attend college to begin with, most notably under the direction of their parents. Adrian said, "I'm doing what most people are doing" and "people go to college because it's the most stable" noting "I would have done whatever my parents said". Michael described himself "as a decent student" who not that interested in school but had "very supportive parents that kind of like guided me into this whole process like I wasn't alone." James stated the reason he was in college was "mostly because my parents were like really pushing for it, I like in high school I like never really thought about like what I really wanted to do later in life. And like I mean I don't know… I feel like it's just a pretty normal thing for like parents to push their kids to go to college, you know and so kind of just pushed me to go."

While all three indicated that college was the natural next step, Adrian stated "I was never one to have like a set direction, or like where I should go. If that was the case, I would be more interested in college... I haven't wanted to do much after high school." Michael admitted that he really didn't know what he wanted to do in college and admitted to not thinking about the future, "I'm not really thinking about the end, I'm thinking about like putting myself into a position to get to the end easier, because like I feel like I've not been doing well in my life in school and I'm trying to start differently this semester [Spring 2021]." Adrian also stated that he didn't know if he wanted to be in college but argued "I think college should be more than a place you go." When Michael was asked why he thought he struggled so much or others in a similar situation he responded, "I would say, like not laziness just a lot of my male peers lack

engagement... I don't know what the reason is just like maybe not really know like our path, like our set path like, what we need to like works towards ... I really didn't know. So it was kind of a different feeling and it wasn't really knowing what I was working towards." These feelings of being lost or unsure of the direction continued in each conversation surrounding the topic of their majors. Adrian indicated being unhappy in his major indicating that his "father would rather me like do the stock market or something", Michael changed his major three times before settling on his current one after getting advice, and James remains undeclared admitting not having spent time exploring his interests, "I should probably just like take the time and sit down and like go through the options [majors] and see what I'm interested in I just haven't really done that." When asked if he felt like a major would help him be more interested in school he said "absolutely".

The impact of too much freedom and not enough structure seemed to make these feelings of directionless worse, but yet both freedom and structure were valued. Adrian said he liked structure but when he was in college "he hasn't really been exposed to any". Michael indicated that there was a struggle in transitioning from high school to college especially regarding the level of responsibility you need to have as a student "it's all up to you… the new sense of freedom is an interesting thing… no one is going to tell you to really do the things that you're supposed to be doing". Adrian reflected that "I have noticed that I do enjoy being forced to do something rather than needing to do it myself." James said,

Personally, I think it's just like right out of high school you're not living with your parents you're on your own and you're just trying to like learn how to like figure stuff out, I guess, and like just being on your own. Like you're away from home so you're just trying to figure out everything for yourself and, like, for me, personally it's, not that I don't want my parents help, it's like you know, I'd rather figure it out on my own, but I know that they're there if I need help.

Much of what is described above mirrors Molly Schaller's (2005) work on exploring secondyear students. She argues that students within the first two years of college move through different developmental stages of random exploration, focused exploration, tentative choices, and commitment. Each student described their first-year experience very much as random explorers navigating a terrain without much sense of direction. Schaller (2005) describes random exploring as a type of student who is not in touch "with an internal voice or in active reflection about decisions, their movement through the college experience can seem 'undirected'" (p.18). These feelings and behaviors are evident in how students described their first year of college and lack of direction or as Michael put it, lack of knowing his path. The students interviewed also seemed to be transitioning into more focused exploration, something Schaller finds common during the second year. "In focused exploration, students began to express a level of frustration with their current relationships, with themselves, or with their academic experience... students want to have a sense of a future career and life direction" in this stage (p.18-19).

### **Social Engagement**

Belonging came up indirectly through conversations about their peers and the power of social engagement into fitting into the college environment. The most talked about topic was that of peer relationships and that being a sole factor in engaging (as well as disengaging) in college. All three students described mostly fond memories of their first semester in college. Adrian admits "I miss the experience of what I was doing even though, like what I was doing is probably not like the best for like, me, you know health wise." James explained that his first semester was a time that build his social network,

It was super fun like, the beginning was super tough just because I didn't know anyone, but like I feel like it helped me realize a lot about myself and like because in high school, I always kind of like I never really have like a set friend group and when I got to college it happened so it's pretty cool; but, no... yeah just super fun times had with my friends.

Both Michael and James explain the impact that peer relationships had on their academics. Michael says, "With different people there are different results, like a lot of friends, you know we'd like rise together academically and there were other friends, where we would act lower." James hinted at similar themes as well,

I started meeting some friends just through class and stuff and then I don't know I really enjoyed it...I just found a lot of surf friends and like a lot of stuff to do and then COVID hit. I was doing alright but slacking a bit... but, it was cool because we could just meet up and do our homework together...

Adrian described himself as someone who "preferred to stay home" and didn't connect with people deeply because "everyone has a hobby focus" and he felt that he didn't. He also described not sharing interests with other students in the dorms indicating that "it's weird everyone down with drugs even though I never saw them taken by anyone." Adrian admitted, "There was a tutor I liked to be around, he had a good energy. Some people are nice to talk to but as for a person I could sit down in chill with, that's not something I did."

Adrian also described this disconnect to his peers mostly related to his racial identity. He indicated a distrust in diversity work on campus, felt there "was too much antiracism" work and he questioned if peers practiced it. "I feel like their prejudice naturally to like things that I can't recognize. And I couldn't recognize who they were underneath their shades of color..." feeling that he "was not as Latino as he should be" which created " a weird language state" because he didn't speak Spanish and was bothered by this. Adrian explained,

in high school they don't tell you what you're doing is wrong... like the wrongness of mistreating minorities...hell it's weird that that you need college to remind you of a lot more and it hangs over your head.

He stated that it was his first time in such a diverse environment but reasoned "it's not like everyone has a shared background, but they definitely had a shared sense of identity already". Adrian admitted he struggled mentally with this barrier "I've always wanted to like get to know people, but I'm not going to like go up to someone else and have a conversation".

Social Engagement is one of the most important factors in student persistence according to Tinto (1975) and one of the key factors in persistence noted in the literature review. Much of what is explained above connects to Bean & Eaton's (2000) psychological model. Students are influenced based on how interactions occur within and outside of the academic environment, ultimately impacting persistence. For these students the ability to interact socially encouraged them to participate academically in-person and virtually. It does not go unnoticed the importance of the peer relationship related to campus climate by Adrian. The explanation of his own experience, peer acceptance or rather non-acceptance, and micro-aggressive behavior by peers deeply influenced his motivation in academic and social domains. Rogers & Summers (2008) found Bean & Eaton's model was relevant in capturing institutional racial climate and the stress it places on students of color to live in a dualistic reality. For Adrian, dualism doesn't exist. Johnson et al. (2014) note that campus environments contributes to the psychological experiences of students of color, and this finding is similar for Adrian. His negative experiences with peers in the dorms and in classes effected his mental state and motivations to be in college.

### **Coping Behaviors**

Eaton & Bean's (1995) theory on coping behavior explains that students utilize different types of coping mechanisms, approaching or avoidance techniques when dealing with stressors. They explain,

The concepts of approach and avoidance describe the behaviors that an individual uses to manage stressors within an environment. Approach is viewed as primarily an active response to stress whereas avoidance is viewed as more passive. While the two sets of behavior have contrasting definitions, they should not be viewed as ends of a continuum (Eaton & Bean, 1995, p. 690).

Knowing that coping exists on a continuum, explains the inconsistent use of certain types of mechanisms by these students. Each student had a negative perception of the type of student that they were prior to college and during their college experience. James referred to himself as a "lazy" student over four times in our interview. Michael admitted that up until recently he just "did what he needed to get by" and had a low interest and motivation towards school, while Adrian described himself as someone who "had glory days in high school" and no longer felt that type of "energy". Both James and Adrian described overthinking about their challenges and problems multiple times in each interview, indicating that they kept negative thoughts inside without expressing them outwardly. All three students mentioned "avoiding" problems as their go-to tactic in the past, which Eaton & Bean (1995) categorize as avoidance behaviors. Adrian and James both described engaging in extreme behaviors when handling stress. Adrian stated feeling either "very relaxed or hyper stressed about it" and James stated the following experience this year when handling stress,

Like I used to lash out when I couldn't really deal with my stress. So, like I don't know I don't think my mom thought I had like anger issues or something and like I mean I didn't have anger issues... I'd say it's just I didn't know how to deal with stress, or like stuff like that. So, I'm just a lazy student, there are times when I handle problems really well, but then there's other times, where I can like... not freak out ...but hesitate almost. Yeah... overthinking things a lot, but I also can handle things pretty well. One of my biggest problems is just like coping with stress because like I really don't know what to do... like honestly, I freak out sometimes like I don't know... I lose it sometimes – it's kind of weird, now that I'm here [back near school] and surfing it's like a way to relieve stress and working out, I mean I could have done that [back home] but my friends are here.

All three students described experiencing both moments of high and low motivation throughout

their academic experience. James explains,

I don't know I just don't really have the motivation for school, and it's like often on and off for me, sometimes, because sometimes... I will realize like, 'Oh, I need to do good in school' so like I can graduate you know, and then eventually find a good job and stuff; but, like a lot of times I just don't think about that... I feel like if I just thought about that

all the time and then maybe school would be more of a priority to me...I just need to do a better job at like changing [things] or like making a change for myself, you know.

While Adrian presented with low affect and acknowledged the presence of "a poor mental state" and often gave vague answers, he repeated more than three times how he usually "avoids problems" and struggled with the effects of the lack of sleep, "I resist sleeping just to stay awake more, and like I don't sleep... I sleep during the day and like stay awake at night...it's weird". On the other hand Michael has adjusted his way of handling stress since Fall 2020,

I have been approaching problems better by attacking them. Like faster than literally just putting it off... I used to put it off when things started to get more complicated and worse...but... for an example this semester I was having an issue in my XXX class and we have groups for people... and in my group, no one seemed interested in like doing anything. One person already dropped, and I like I sent them emails like, 'Hey, like let's get like a group chat going like let's talk about this writing group project', but yet it took a while to get back to me, so I emailed the teacher, you know just try to figure out how to get it resolved as quickly as possible...I try to use that stress almost like kind of a drive like I used to kind of like use any stressed feelings and I just look into the syllabus just to find out like what I need to know what like make a plan so I'm less stressed.

James also expressed a desire to change his approach to handling stress both mentally and

academically. He stated that exercise and reconnecting with his friends after his move out-of-

state due to COVID-19 (and back again) improved his overall well-being. He states,

I used to work out a lot like at the end of high school and then, when I got to college, I surfed a lot so like I'd say that was like just as good of a workout... yeah, I still worked out too but then when COVID hit like I didn't work out like at all and I think that, like now that I'm back down here like surfing and then one of my roommates is like hitting the gym like every day and everything. So I've been trying to like get back in shape. So, like I don't know... I think being down here is like just a lot better for me just mentally at least.

James also describes his desire on wanting to change his habits as a student.

I'm trying to change... I'm trying to just get into a routine more because I've never been a guy like that wakes up and does like the same thing every day, or like gets into a routine you know, like I've always just been like go with the flow kind of do whatever you like... I also want to like stay structured so that I know, like there are things I have to do before you know, like have fun and stuff. I'm also trying to start making like a list of things I should do throughout the day and then crossing it off because there is so much to remember... I feel like making a list is like the first step in the right direction.

Michael and James' use of internal reflection to use more strategic ways of thinking about challenges, is exercising a more hopeful thinking pattern – that the changes made could equate to a goal of sustaining and passing classes. Two of the three men admitted to keeping their grades and academic struggle hidden from their parents. Adrian stated that he has kept how is classes are going from his parents because he felt "shame" and "embarrassment" for the state he was in. Barouch-Gilbert (2016) found this to be common in students on academic probation; students on probation tend to be more depressed, anxious, and feel more shame than their peers. When asked why he didn't want to talk to them about his struggles he explains,

Parents are still carrying their children no matter what happens... it's just I don't want to be such a hindrance if that makes sense. You feel like a burden kinda just because you get older, you know you are needed to do more just for the sake of caring for your family, because that's how it's done.

# **Impact of COVID-19**

Adrian echoed what all three students had to say about the impact of COVID-19 on their college experience, "it's been a struggle". All three students were living in residential housing when COVID hit, a shift to online learning began and an eventual requirement to move out in Spring 2020. All students described the initial reaction as joyous followed by panic and a rush to move out. While Adrian and Michael state that while they were unhappy about the move home it ended up being for the best. Adrian explains,

Last year did cut off, which was very a very sad and awkward situation for me right there since I was at the dorms when everything was happening, and I had to move. It managed to like to save me some money just because there's rent coming in, and I didn't have enough money to pay for it. It wasn't something I wanted probably, but I know it did help, though just because what I was heading towards at the end of the year, except I wish it would have ended more proper that would have helped more.

Michael contextualizes his lack of motivation after the switch to online learning as "just kind of lackadaisical, kind of lazy in a way, I should have kept up more, but it was just like a big opportunity for me to fall behind." James explained a similar experience, "in the span of like a week it went from, like, the best time of my life to like, I don't know I wouldn't say worst time my life like just going back to [home state] was kind of a downer...Not a fan of online school at all." Michael and James both explained that going to classes helped with engagement. James said,

I'd rather just get up and go to class and be there. The difference between rolling out of bed, and then walking or driving to the class between like opening your laptop it's just like it's insane... like the motivation like the level, the differences if you want to call it that...just once COVID hit, my motivation dropped.

Michael echoed similar experiences, "When I got to go to class like my first semester, it was really nice because you and you're getting there you're getting your engagement in, but for me it's just hard for me to stay engaged on a computer. You have to be constantly checking your email and checking in its non-stop." Adrian also said thought his first semester was pretty good and felt he actually tried, but COVID hit "I'm pretty like sad about that since that's like the direction I'm in right now ... feeling sad most of the time." Michael wanted to make sure he emphasized in our interview, that "engagement might have been the most difficult thing, like finding the motivation to like you know really dive into your academics on the computer in online learning, it's just not the same." The remarks of all three students mirror much of the current research on the impact of COVID-19 on the mental health and motivation of college students (Guzman, 2020; Son et al., 2020).

# **Support Networks**

The influence of parents throughout each conversation echoed as one of the key relationships in determining confidence in college success. For example, Michael described his parents as "a little bit like they're kind of my mentors like helping me in my path". James described his parents as "super supportive" and his uncle that lived locally, a key in his support network. As mentioned earlier, all students described their relationships with their peers as central in the social fabric of their academic lives and their development in college. Adrian stated that "the energy" people gave off was important in developing relationships though he was struggling to engage in them. James reflected that during the Fall semester he was working full-time back in home state and that peer relationships helped keep him engaged,

I was [going to school] and working full time in construction and that was hard so, I don't know I just wanted to get back to my friends who went to school here. I didn't have anyone to talk about my assignments or anything, or just school in general. Both the friends I'm living with now go to XX and it's just like I don't know back home it's so depressing there all year, and it's sunny here all the time... I'm just happier here, I can do better here.

Two students had taken a course for students on academic probation and one student indicated that this course was key in helping him reprioritize his desire for college. The course, which is a 1-unit success course for students who are struggling academically and/or are on academic probation, is utilized as an intrusive curricular intervention where students are preenrolled. Students earn a grade in order to recover their GPA's faster while normalizing the experience of struggle in a peer-supported environment. The course is structured around important topics such as self-talk and growth mindset, time management, sleep and wellness, cultural and familial validation, personal strengths, major exploration, and academic planning. Michael explained, You know, I had to take like an academic probation class, and I think a big thing they like, help with, is the motivation part of it. For me just kind of going to the class and just seeing kind of like just what the pure concrete details are like if you don't like do this again... you just can't afford to have another semester like you've been doing. So that just kind of like resonated with me like made realize like okay like I gotta make some changes then you know, of course through the class like I had like a lot of reflection which, like kind of like started a conversation with myself. That was like a big thing that helped with the motivation I have currently.

Student reflection and its' impact on internal motivation was evident with all three students in the interviews. James engaged in reflection knowing he was trying to figure things out and wanted to stay in college while Adrian reflected that "I am probably doing myself a disservice by attending college because I could be spending more time on making money or something." Both Michael and James expressed a desire to turn things around. Michael said last semester he began to think about the impacts of a college degree on his life, in part due to the course he was enrolled in, "I was just thinking, 'Oh is this something I want to do? Do I want to get a degree or am I wasting my time here? I was just trying to think what I was capable of and I had to like kind of come to a conclusion that this was something I want to go towards." This internalized reflection and decision-making process is what Baxter Magolda (2007) calls self-authorship, which is defined as someone's internal capacity to define one's beliefs, identity and social relationships on their terms, while Snyder (2000) would state this would be motivation towards setting a perceived goal; yet, both are true in Michael and James' case.

#### 4.3 OPPORTUNITIES FOR FURTHER RESEARCH

It is evident that the sample was smaller due to the impact of the pandemic on enrollment for this population as enrollment was lower in Fall 2020 due the continuance for online learning. Additionally, the response rate could have been low for many reasons, such as students not returning for classes in Spring 2021, so they were not checking their emails, not interested, or

were buried by email communications from the university. Additionally, there are many socioeconomic factors that are affecting students that are unknown to the researcher as the study was conducted during a peak COVID-19 case surge and high fatality rate in many communities. The survey response rate was smaller than the typical 20% baseline, but because 100% of students who responded were enrolled in Spring 2021, it offered a richer understanding of potential variables that influence students' decisions to stay in college despite all these factors.

The results are encouraging and offer insight into the experiences of recovery and resilience, but also of second year male student development in general. The results highlight that this group is worth further study across multiple universities to increase potential response rate on these instruments. Since this population is known to utilize avoidance techniques – having more opportunity to capture data at a larger scale, across multiple institutions, could help verify the limited results seen here. It may be also interesting to attempt interviews or focus groups (in-person) with a male interviewer (or male person of color) to see if there any differences in what students are willing to share based on gender positionality or even in-person non-verbal language cues that a zoom call could not provide (e.g. body language cues, better reading of facial expressions). Additional understanding from a sociological or economic theory could help richen understanding of the psychological data since hope theory on its own is not enough to explain academic recovery. Further, additional study is needed on students who identify as Multiracial (two or more racial/ethnic identities). There is little research on students with Multiracial identities in the college environment and due to the small number of experiences seen here, a larger approach to understanding these experiences could better inform universities on how to support this intersectional identity within a larger student development context.

### **CHAPTER FIVE: DISCUSSION**

#### 5.1 SUMMARY OF KEY FINDINGS

The purpose of this study was to understand the psychological processing for second-year men in academic recovery. Bean & Eaton (2000,2001) provided a framework in which to consider psychological understanding of student retention, with a specific population in mind. Snyder's Hope Theory (2000) provided one view of how someone processes challenges and approaches goals. The first research question posed in this study was how do locus of control, coping skills, self-efficacy, influence hopeful thinking? The second research question was how do students describe the process of academic recovery? Do any themes explain the results from the initial phase of the study? With a sub-question of what are the experiences of men of color and White men in academic recovery? To answer the first question: locus of control, coping behavior, and self-efficacy were found to be all statistically significant with hopeful thinking. But to understand the significance of this it is key to understand each variable on its own. Respondents reported a relaxed internalized locus of control when it came to school habits, a comfortability and affinity for more disengaging behavior patterns which included negative selftalk and not expressing emotions or feelings during stressful periods, a moderate self-efficacy towards their abilities but not confident in being able to follow through, and a movement towards more hopeful thinking pattern about problems. The quantitative findings indicate that Bean & Eaton's (2000,2001) model of retention successfully explains one-dimension of why students persist. From this perspective, if a student utilizes healthy ways of coping, utilizes internal reflection to assess motivation, and believe in themselves they will likely continue in college. Hope theory though not initially designed for college students, has been used to test its validity, is not reliable on its own for understanding of recovery. Both theories tell us very important

cognitive patterns of recovery, but more goes into recovery than one-dimensional psychological understanding – though it is extremely important and relevant. For example, if a student was struggling with housing or food insecurity which impacted their coping skills or hopeful thinking – these theories would not tell us that, but those insecurities are valid, concerning, and barriers to success in college. Additionally, Snyder's (2000) theory, does not consider the cultural or environmental components that go about informing psychological patterns to begin with – nor does it address the barriers which can prevent internal well-being.

Qualitative findings helped richen the understanding of the quantitative data with significant overlap in themes with psychological variables. Several themes connected to Bean & Eaton's (2000,2001) model and Synder's (2000) hope theory are evident throughout the student narratives. But since recovery is not one-dimensional and this study utilizes a pragmatic approach, other ways of framing students' experiences should be considered through multiple theories like Schlossberg's (1989) transition theory or Bourdieu's (1986) theory of understanding social and cultural capital. Transition theory would showcase the *taking stock* process of students in recovery as the move through this developmental phase; certainly these students are trying new things, failing and learning as they grow. Additionally, when considering capital, one thing these students needed to foster was, navigational capital. Students often described not knowing where to go, how to do college, or understand what was expected from them at various points in their academic careers. Navigational capital is a term I have defined to mean the process in which students build skills in navigating environments, relationships, challenges, and institutional processes but also the ability in which to navigate and to culturally relevant wellness resources. There is no argument that motivation, coping, and support sustained these students

through this period – but when *navigational capital* is built, it appears to connect students to a stronger thriving experience.

# **Motivation in Transition**

When we consider the motivation of students in recovery, this study found that students expressed a below average externalization of academic behavior – indicating a more internalized drive towards school. This is a common finding in the literature - students who have a more internalized motivation are more likely to persist. In both the quantitative data and the qualitative data social experience was found to be extremely important. Peer relationships often drove how students felt about college, not necessarily the classes themselves. The qualitative data highlighted a shift in the locus of control but that it was still very much what we may call, motivation in transition with students trying out new techniques and strategies to focus better on school. This is also an element of hopeful thinking as well as transition theory. Two of the interviewees indicated recent changes in behavior perpetuated by what they had learned up to this point. Students described a shift from what used to be disinterest or externalized behavior, to a desire to be more internalized towards college. This might suggest that if a student is not yet ready to make a change or able to identify what needs to be changed, they may not have matured to a more internalized view of how to handle academic demands. This would require more internal self-reflection (Baxter Magolda, 2007) as well as building *navigational capital* to address this.

All three students did not consider themselves great students in high school, with little desire to go to college but the decision to go was mostly external pressure by society and/or parents. Siriam and Vetter (2012) argue that knowing the psychological mindset of a student early in the their college experience determines their later choices. The 'why go to college' is a significant

part of the first-year experience but it doesn't appear that much internal reflection had occurred at the time, with one student describing "when things clicked" was due to the help of an academic probation class and forced reflection, a class designed to build *navigational capital*.

Overall, this ambivalence regarding how to handle situations showed up in the theme of directionless which seemed to make motivation worse. All three students reported a feeling of starting college with "no path" or aren't really aware of what they were working toward, or a major of interest and even "frozen" when handling stressful situations. This theme of lack of direction is one of the most common themes in the second year, Schaller (2005) calls this phenomenon wandering exploration.

### **Coping Through Transition**

It was evident students were also still *coping through transition* in learning to handle stress and challenge, especially as related to learning online. Overall students reported a higher level of disengagement behavior such as avoiding problems, negative self-talk (blaming and criticizing), and not reaching out to talk about their problems with trusted friends and family members. These disengaging behaviors were specifically mentioned by students (without prompt) throughout the interview process with students describing their struggle by blaming themselves and two of the three admitting to not talking to anyone including their parents about struggling in college. Adrian indicated that this was mainly due to feelings of shame and embarrassment. James talked about how his family didn't talk about stress or kept things inside, indicating some internal reflection on his own handling of stress appeared to be with what he witnessed at home from his own father. This highlighted an important clarification that the quantitative data could not tell us, *coping skills are taught*. They are socially, culturally, and environmentally formed (Unger, 2008). If these coping skills are not related to an aspect of internal well-being, they might be

considered maladaptive. It is evident from the literature that men in college don't necessarily cope well with transition, this study reinforces this suggestion, and the idea warrants further psycho-social inquiry.

Two of the three interviewees described a change this year in how they began approaching problems and stress by taking more responsibility in their academics. For example, Michael said that he couldn't solely blame his struggle on COVID "it was partly a lot of my own doing... like reading into emails I needed to in a timely manner [from my teachers]." Michael and James both offered specific examples on how they were strategizing school related stress by utilizing to-do lists, priority setting, and connecting with faculty. The quantitative results suggested that healthy coping was also in-progress, it seemed that while the score was higher for disengaged coping behaviors, that students were starting to utilize more positive engaging coping behaviors. As Eaton & Bean (1995) state in their foundational theory, coping is a spectrum and it does not work within extremes. Michael stated he was starting to attack problems head on, and James indicated the need for exercise and mental/physical wellness to be in the right state of mind to tackle school.

Just as there was a shift in motivational orientation and coping strategies, the overall student group reported that while they had confidence in tackling problems, they didn't feel they had consistency following through. This finding was evident in all four instruments, students with poor attitudes towards school had impaired planning techniques and on the SES scale students reported the lowest confident score in sticking to and accomplishing their goals. On the AHS scale students scored higher on pathways thinking, which is strategizing multiple solutions and pathways but lower on agentic thinking, the belief that they can do it. Perhaps this indicates a trial-and-error type of approach to problems that are no longer working, but the high scores on

negative self-talk on the CSI-SF indicates an internal belief system that questions their abilities. Without the skills (or modeling) to process those feelings or be present with them, and fear of being vulnerable, this potentially highlights male students tend to avoid external problems but internal ones as well. For example, in the interviews, James admitted to seeking mental health support in the past to deal with anger related to what he called 'stress' but he said he stopped going because "I didn't get anything from it". Adrian also visibly presenting with low affect and admitting a feeling of sadness and hopelessness, told the researcher he had no interest in seeking counseling or support despite his struggles with mental health "because it won't help" and "I don't really know what I would talk about."

### Peers Make Transition Worth It (Or Not)

It was evident that peer relationships had an incredibly powerful impact on the perceived success of the first year in college, regardless of their grades. Peer relationships were attributed to both healthy engagement in college (classes, studying, socialization, emotional benefits) but also a source of stress both from a campus climate perspective, distractibility, and the impact that COVID-19 had in their learning experience. While sense of belonging was not assessed quantitatively, it was evident that feeling connected to college for this group was driven by peers. This could be because of how they reported not thinking of themselves as students or learners – so their drive to connect was through peer relationships. Though Adrian said he was experiencing financial insecurity, he seemed to say that it made it easier to disconnect from college because his relationships with his peers were not positive.

Support and acceptance seem to be overwhelming in helping students build confidence. Social relationships were extremely important in connecting students with the desire to be in college. Parents and extended family support were extremely important to all students, but each

student expressed different types of relationships with their parents despite their role in directing their sons to go to college. This might be best explained as the most single influencing link to helping students not only transition into college but sustaining it. The two students who expressed more difficult relationships with their parents were from homes where parents did not graduate from college, minoritized, and expressed desire in pleasing their parents but wanting to also break away. This desire for independence and personal identity is well-documented in second-year literature (Schreiner, 2018). Peer relationships were also important in returning and maintaining an interest in college, despite one student moving out of state, and another out of the city, they reported keeping connected to their friend group. Additionally, two students had taken an academic probation class in either their first or second year of college and stated the act of deep reflection and processing their motivation helped to increase it. It also provided a place to network with peers experiencing similar struggles.

It's clear that Bean & Eaton's use of locus of control, coping skills, and self-efficacy as variables within their framework make it a viable option in considering student behavior, but not exhaustive. It appears locus of control is directly related to motivation, coping strategies are related to motivation, self-efficacy is related to motivation, but the motivation to stay is rooted in hope. All of these independent variables clearly influenced hopeful thinking outcomes. While no students used the term "hope" it was their way of thinking about challenges, how they perceive their capabilities in handling problems, and figuring out solutions that equated to higher hope results. It was clear in my interviews that academic recovery wasn't just one semester, nor could it be explained for only one psychological perspective, there are multiple ways of understanding the experience. Students in academic recovery and *chose* to stay, are more hopeful, they are transitioning *to, through*, and *towards* a bigger goal. They also are more hopeful when they have

built *navigational capital*. Therefore, the goal of the second year is not only what Laurie Schreiner calls "thriving" but building capital in how to navigate. If we only look at recovery from a thriving perspective, we may miss the important gaps and barriers that exist for some students and not others.

Cognitive and intellectual development is not linear. Recovery is not linear. It is clear that while we may associate academic recovery as a specific point in time, students are still overcoming many barriers, trying strategies out – the only problem is, if they use the wrong one and it doesn't work out again, they risk not being able to return to campus. They are still experimenting with what works but changing course since the experiments of the first year (and even third semester) didn't work. The first year could be seen as experimental because for the students interviewed, all expressed so many new experiences that impacted their struggle: too much freedom, diverse peer groups, living away from home, financial insecurity, and making their own decisions (even if they were not the best ones). They made mistakes, all of them owning it – but most of them are unsure of where to go next, but hopeful they can figure it out with the proper support network and internal reflection in place even if it meant college was or was not the answer.

It appears students overall aren't overly confident in their abilities to handle challenges, but as a group aren't generally depressed and willing to quit either. This indicates a desire for more. It is evident in the data they have a belief in their capabilities they are just unsure of what the "more" is. They are evolving, learning, and changing the way they think about college and how (or if) to complete it. Recovery in the second year is a longer developmental phase which emphasizes the themes seen in the literature regarding the second-year experience in particular like purpose, meaning, identity and major indecision. But it is the lack of coping skills that may set men apart from other students. It's clear that this developmental experience was pre-dated by a lack of internal motivation to go to college in the first place, so it appears they may be figuring it out later. But it is the hope of something better that keeps them here in the first place. A belief that there are ways out of problems, a better way of handling challenges and situations, and a belief that they have the capacity to do it (while challenging themselves to actually follow through). Earlier the definition of recovery was posed as a short-term process with resiliency as an overall longer experience, this study asserts that GPA recovery might be short-term but academic resiliency in particular is a pre-cursor to personal resiliency which is a longer developmental process.

# 5.2 CREATING HOPEFUL, THRIVING, NAVIGATIONAL SAAVY STUDENTS

James stated in his interview, "I'd rather thrive than just survive." So how does an institution create an environment where students can thrive and recover during their second year? Schreiner (2018) states,

Sophomores who are thriving are investing effort in their academic work and in the process of selecting a major that interests them and brings out their best. They experience a sense of meaning and purpose to their lives that provides directions they engage in their classes, become involved in campus and community life, form healthy relationships, and make a difference in the world around them. This vision of a thriving sophomore then informs all programs and services that are designed to meet sophomores' needs; every aspect of the second-year experience is thus evaluated through that lens (p.12).

Informed by the literature and the results of this study a few recommendations for this population could be helpful in cultivating more engaging and thriving students as they experience academic recovery. Tovar and Simon (2006) state that academic and student programming must consider students' background, financial insecurity, commuting concerns, and personal challenges. To support the trajectory through academic recovery and towards a thriving resiliency, practitioners should consider four areas of program consideration:

- 1. academic recovery *specific* related peer support,
- 2. development of success courses,
- 3. hands on major exploration, and
- 4. reviewing academic policy and implementation.

### **Peer Support Programs**

Evident throughout this study was the power of social relationships on belonging and its influence on academic motivation. Pascarella & Terenzini (2005) point that there is a consistent body of literature indicating the importance of peer relationships in cognitive and intellectual development in college. Astin (1993) found "the student's peer group is the single most potent source of influence on growth and development during the undergraduate years" (p. 398). Utilizing the power of the peer relationship can be utilized through current programming like peer tutoring or mentoring but having peer programs specifically targeted for students who struggle paired with a student of similar background and experience. For students of color, Paredes-Collins (2012) recommends small groups of first-year students led by older students of color who can share success stories in order to build arenas of mentorship. Since first-generation students are more likely to leave college and/or struggle (Pascarella et al., 2004) targeting programs for this group would also be effective. These students tend to possess different types of cultural and social capital than other traditional students; therefore, targeting programs with an emphasis on cultural validation, financial support, and navigational capital are important. Additionally, facilitating programming for students how to balance family life expectations with academic life early in a student's career could be beneficial for this group.

Peer programming groups about the social construction of "manhood" could create positive associations to gender and healthy coping skills. Men of color groups offer spaces and opportunities to cultivate a shared identity and discuss issues of race within the college environment. Another important aspect of peer programming should include diversity curriculums and opportunities to engage with peers on these topics, as campus climate in particular has significant and negative effects on minoritized student retention (Pascarella & Terenzini, 2005). "Some formal components of the peer environment appear capable of counterbalancing or compensating for the negative influences of a peer environment that is perceived as unwelcoming, or even hostile, to students of color" (Pascarella & Terenzini, 2005).

Steele (1997, 1999) recommends integrated living-learning communities, ethnic-racial student organizations and learning spaces. The United States continues to become a more multiracial society and creating spaces for students of multiple identities to co-exist together in a learning and living environment creates a culture of inclusion and acceptance that is not yet discussed in the literature. Multiracial students in this study in both quantitative and qualitative data appear to be struggling, additional research is needed in this area. However, the concern reinforces the need for a diverse, multicultural education in and outside the classroom with active discussion and reflection amongst peers which could reinforce or help inform university driven strategic initiatives. Schreiner (2018) calls this the importance of cultivating a sense of community on campus which inspires a thriving campus. A sense of community has four elements: a) *membership*, or a sense of belonging on campus; b) *ownership*, or a sense of voice and contribution on campus; c) *relationship*, or positive emotional connections to others on campus; and d) *partnership* or working interdependently with others toward mutually desired goals (Schreiner, 2013).

### **Student Success Courses**

Success courses came up as an opportunity to engage students with peers in a classroom setting. Student success courses are commonly seen through the perception of first-year experience courses and seminars. However, there is a growing base of literature on student

success courses for students on probation as well as other holistic student success curricula. Success courses have shown to increase persistence at institutions (Bowering et al., 2017; Bledsoe, 2018;Hope, 2010; McGrath & Burd, 2012; Renzulli, 2015; Snyers & DeWitte, 2018). An academic recovery course could act as an opportunity to navigate an institutions' culture regarding probation/struggle especially if the curriculum focused on theoretical approaches seen within hope theory, which emphasizes goal setting, empowerment, self-regulation, and pathway making. Additionally, it is clear that deep reflection and self-assessment is important for not only students who are struggling, but in particular within the second year of college.

According to Schaller (2010) self-reflection in the sophomore year is a prime time for students to evaluate past choices, examine belief systems, acknowledge personal strengths, and identify values. She goes on to state that "reflection is pre-requisite for success in the decision-making process" (Schaller, 2010, p.78). Success courses can be beneficial for students on probation, but also powerful sophomore-year courses that allow for an opportunity to develop skills in purpose, meaning and identity. Critical thinking is extremely important for students in this developmental stage as they are assessing and experimenting with different pathways for success, and different methods to increase motivation (Evenbeck & Hamilton, 2010; Hope, 2010;). Success courses can integrate the values of lifelong learning, peer relationships and belonging, academic planning, study skills and time management, internal motivation development, combined with lived experiences which can create a more dynamic and meaningful learning experience. Evenbeck & Hamilton (2010) argue that curriculum intentionally designed for sophomores is critical and adapting successes of first-year experience courses towards the second year can be significant and critical for wandering students.

#### **Hands-On Major Exploration**

It is clear that all three students either struggled or are struggling in their major decision, indicating that if they felt more secure in the major it may have helped with the effect of feeling lost or directionless. Instead of considering students undeclared, one might consider utilizing the language of *exploring* students. Undeclared indicates a permanent state of inaction while the word exploring, indicates a series of actions in order to excavate, all of which these students desired. Gordon (2010) states that few students enter with a major and graduate with same one they started with. This has to do with the amount of pressure put on selecting a major, mainly because a) sequencing of courses is incredibly structured like in STEM or health areas and b) pressure to choose a field with a specific career (e.g. societal, parental). However, many students do not feel like they have enough time to explore and the decision to choose one's major is so important – they connect it to their identity. This decision is one of the biggest ones they make because it creates a trajectory for not only the subject matter they will learn about, but peers and faculty interactions, as well as potential career outcomes. It is clear the students need more intensive academic advising around major. The literature on the topic emphasis over and over the need for sophomore-specific academic advising (Ennis-McMillan, 2011; Schaller, 2005; Schaller, 2010; Schreiner, 2018).

Outside of advising, offering students more opportunities to "try majors out" such as interdisciplinary oriented classes designed for first- and second-year students, or the utilization of pre-majors with introductory courses discussing these topics could help. For example, an institution may consider a yearlong blended course that incorporates both English and Biology or History and Statistics. This not only allows students to try multiple topics within one course but allows students to work intersubjectively utilizing critical thinking skills making them more

likely to become more well-rounded learners. High-Impact Practices or (HIPS) such as servicelearning experiences can be highly beneficial in creating hands-on learning experiences for students (Kuh et al., 2005). In the case of students who are struggling academically the idea of integrating service-learning concepts within an academic field of interest or embedded in a success course "to try things out" may help engage students more within the classroom and major setting.

# **Reviewing Educational and Academic Policy**

The concepts of recovery and resilience within this study's context asked for a deeper understanding of individual developmental outcomes; however, "resilience" researchers believe resilience development is mostly dependent on the social determinants surrounding a person. Seccombe (2002), for example, argues for an understanding of resilience as a quality of the social environment as much as the individual,

The widely held view of resiliency as an individual disposition, family trait, or community phenomenon is insufficient . . . resiliency cannot be understood or improved in significant ways by merely focusing on these individual-level factors. Instead careful attention must be paid to the structural deficiencies in our society and to the social policies that families need in order to become stronger, more competent, and better functioning in adverse situations (p.385).

One of those structural deficiencies is in how we think about education as both K-12 and postsecondary (meant for competitive entry and competitive completion). Because policy can think of these groups as separate, it forfeits responsibility in creating greater pathways from high schools to community colleges, vocational programs, and four-year institutions. Venezia & Kirst (2005) argue that most policy and program attention is focused "on postsecondary admission, not on postsecondary preparation or success" (p. 285). While this has started to change over the years with programs like, LEAP (Leveraging Educational Assistance Partnership Program), there needs to be a tighter linkage from K-12 to postsecondary if our society really values higher

education completion. If we look at postsecondary education as part of a K-16 model it would require K-12 and postsecondary to not just collaborate but work together in preparing students for college.

The high-school-to-college transition is particularly challenging for students (e.g. first-generation college goers) who rely almost completely on in-school resources to help them prepare. Within our research agenda, we view admissions and placement standards and institutional arrangements as policies that communicate signals, meaning, and expected behavior to students and secondary schools (Verenzia & Kirst, 2005, p.288).

These signals can get students to college but don't help them succeed. Additionally, levels of support can be inconsistent during the first year of college, and mostly drops off during the second year of college causing students to tread water. "Success or failure in the sophomore year does not rest solely in the student's individual performance. Environmental and contextual factors can play a significant role in supporting and scaffolding student success in the second year of college" (Gahagan, 2018, p.85-86). It is clear from the qualitative feedback – that once they get here, they have no idea what to do, or what they should do, or how to do it. If our education system was a K-16 model, high schools and postsecondary institutions might engage in a warm transfer where college is talked about more than an economic benefit. This would require communities, school districts, institutions, to work together for a common goal; and it is evident that the transition into college is really a two-year process for many students. If we want to be intentional of moving students through and out, we need to be intentional about moving them in over a span of time, meeting students where they are and intentionally designing programs and policy supporting this transition keeping in consideration the social factors that can impede their success (e.g. housing, financial, and food insecurity).

One policy consideration is increasing funding for lower-income students. Baker-Smith et al. (2020) found that out of 330,000 college students within the last five years reported

housing insecurity rates from 46 percent to 60 percent at public two-year colleges, and from 35 percent to 48 percent at four-year colleges and universities. "These students were struggling to pay their rent and utilities while their colleges were open, not closed, and while their classes were in session" (Goldrick-Rab, 2020). For lower-income students, the federal government could double the amount offered to Pell-grant recipients. Housing is expensive, and frequently students are not offered enough funding to cover living expenses. Increasing the Pell grant, "will close the affordability gap for lower-income students, leading more of them to enroll and persist" (Levine, 2021, n.p.). Further, even changing the Satisfactory Academic Progress (SAP) standards based on level would be significant. For example, if a first-year student withdrew their first semester due to medical leave and returned in their second spring and met a 2.0 GPA or above they still would not meet SAP since they only completed 50 percent of attempted classes, leaving them immediately on warning at some institutions, and at others, a complete loss of financial aid. Students who are at-most need financially are at most risk to lose aid. Since the most well-paying jobs require a college degree or higher, we are essentially creating additional barriers to reach that goal.

*How* institutions write policy also reflect values of equity and opportunity and *how* that policy is implemented reflects an institution's perception of that group. Gaghan (2018) states "As educators, our beliefs about student success and what we value shape our actions and can be formalized into the policies that are enacted on campus. Likewise, these policies designed to guide student life and behavior can subsequently encourage or discourage student success" (p.86). Kinzie & Kuh (2017) argue that the real problem is how initiatives, policies, and programs are implemented. They state the problem as "a group of discrete, disconnected programs, or crafting solutions before developing a clear sense of the contextualized problem.

What is needed is a framework that recognizes and systematically maps the range of approaches about what to do and illustrates how this must occur". (Kinzie & Kuh, 2017, p. 23). This argues that institutions must first explore the success data surrounding second years and the implications on students experience and retention; two, evaluate which policies are affecting second year success; and three, create a framework in which to support students (Gahagan, 2018). Maybe one could start with looking at academic probation policy in how it's written and implemented as a starting point. For example, the term academic probation indicates criminal wrong-doing. The power of language and how we describe academic progress needs to shift. Consider what this term means to students who are of color in which the justice system disproportionately affects, students who have been through the justice or foster care system- or witnessed family go through this system. Beyond language, how we write the policy and the expectations which we set require students of all backgrounds to maintain one standard of academic achievement. As mentioned earlier in this paper, policy is frequently written in academia so students meet one definition of student, middle-class white student, who should "know" how to do these things. Policy should be considered for accountability but for equity and empathy as well. As an institution of learning, why do we punish failure when it's a part of the learning process?

# **5.3 CONCLUDING REMARKS**

It is clear that "failure" is an essential part of learning, "that given the chance to reflect upon academic adversity and take appropriate action, students can learn and grow in impressive ways" (Gannon, 2020). Students who are struggling academically are unique, because they are in middle of challenges and setbacks. It's easy to acknowledge someone's existence when they are down or not meeting an expectation by utilizing a policy that tells someone "you aren't good enough" though they certainly are in process. Students are punished for "not knowing" or not

being fully formed in the ways institutions expect, ways that unfortunately speak to only one group. The system of higher education expects that students are ready for a level of academic rigor and academic responsibility that may not have been taught to them. This is not to say there shouldn't be academic expectations or warnings - many students appreciate the "wake-up call" as Michael put it earlier. But no human being is fully formed, and learning is always a process in becoming more than who we are in this moment. We should stop thinking of new students as completely developed individuals who know how to do college, which is a privileged way of expecting students to succeed, and instead, create better experiences and spaces for students to develop, fail, feel accepted, reflect and learn while creating better pathways for success. Our obsession with the idea that a college degree derives happiness has manipulated the expectation of what the college experience is and should be -a developmental time in which to become an enriched 'citizen' and human being. If we want students to build academic resilience, then one of the main learning outcomes of college should be directly related to an individual's internal wellbeing. A college environment that encourages students to occupy all spaces on campus no matter their background where structure and support are available to them, allows for a more inclusive definition about what college can mean, a utopia of potential. Thinking of postsecondary education as an extension of high school, becomes less about the singular economic benefits and more about supporting the development of critical, empathetic, community-oriented, life-long learners.

Perhaps institutions are like sophomores, still trying to find their meaning and purpose, striving for a community in which all members seek to feel like they belong, overwhelmed with strategic indecision in the right way to support students. In those ways their characteristics align. For men, the crisis is real but rooted in much larger complexities than this study could provide. It

could be safe to assume that men struggle with talking about their emotions and handling of stress. It could be safe to assume that male students may not be social-emotionally developed as their female peers, and this delay that has been on display in the research. But what we know from a persistence perspective is that men have the potential to succeed in college with the right support, conditions, and self-reflective opportunities to be authentically who they are as individuals. When we reflect on Unger's (2008) definition of resiliency below, it allows us to consider this definition in the framework of recovery and resiliency in the second year of college:

In the context of exposure to significant adversity, whether psychological, environmental, or both, resilience is both the capacity of individuals to navigate their way to health-sustaining resources, including opportunities to experience feelings of well-being, and a condition of the individual's family, community and culture to provide these health resources and experiences in culturally meaningful ways (p. 225).

We are in the "business" of education - we should be morally obligated to educate and support students in their navigation to health-sustaining resources or in our case, academic ones, including the ability to experience feelings of wellness, and be a part of a larger community and culture by providing opportunities. We are obligated to not just churn out degrees like we are a machine, we are obligated to teach, inform, challenge, and empower students to build confidence in their own intellect but also break down barriers that prevent students from accessing these pools of wellness. If we do this, it can lead to a more resilient and democratic society and higher education becomes just that – a higher education.

Our society needs independent scholars, innovative thinkers, creative explorers and teachers. We also need to do better when it comes to issues related to gender identity and social expectations around those identities, especially when it comes to socialization and coping behavior. Perhaps this study ends with a hopeful tone, that it is possible to create pathways for students, that failure is a part of the academic experience, and empowering individual agency regardless if it includes college in the equation or not. More often, students will choose to continue because of the community and opportunity it provides – if we do it the right way. Perhaps Snyder (2000) said it best when talking about goals, that when we adopt a goal that isn't ours, we should stop and assess our decisions in taking ownership of that goal. "We gain control of this process whenever we can shut off automatic, unaware, and mindless decisions and replace them with a greater consciousness" (p.213). Institutions could stop being automatic and mindless, pause and assess the decisions that have been made and who they impact, and move forward in how to support these students with empathy, equity, care, and acute awareness because our students are craving the opportunity to thrive – if we let them.

### REFERENCES

- AAC&U (Association of American Colleges and Universities). (2019). "2019 diversity, equity, and student success." Retrieved from <u>https://www.aacu.org/conferences/dess/2019</u>
- Abelman, R., & Molina, A. (2001). Style over substance revisited: a longitudinal analysis of intrusive intervention. *NACADA Journal*, 21(1-2), 32-39.
- Ackerman, M., & Morrow, J. (2007). A principal component analysis and validation of the coping with the college environment scale (CWCES). *The Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory, and Practice, 9*(2), 133-148.
- Adelman, C. (2006). The toolbox revisited: paths to degree completion of high school through college. U.S. Department of Education. Retrieved from https://www2.ed.gov/rschstat/research/pubs/toolboxrevisit/toolbox.pdf
- Addison, C., Campbell-Jenkins, B., Sarpong, D., Kibler, J., Singh, M., Dubbert, P., Wilson, G.,
  Payne, T., & Taylor, H. (2007). Psychometric evaluation of a coping strategies inventory short-from (CSI-SF) in the jackson heart study cohort. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 4(4), 289-295.
- Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, 42 U.S.C., 12101 et seq. (1990).

https://www.ada.gov/pubs/adastatute08.htm

- Anderson, M., Goodman, J. & Schlossberg, N. (2012). Counseling adults in transition: linking schlossberg's theory with practice in a diverse world (4<sup>th</sup> ed.). Springer Publishing Company.
- Astin, A. (1984). Student involvement: a developmental theory for higher education. *Journal of College Student Development, 50*(5), 518-530.

Astin, A. W. (1985). Involvement the cornerstone of excellence. *Change Magazine*, *17*(4), 35-39.

- Astin, A.W. (1993). An empirical typology of college students. *Journal of College Student* Development, 34(1), 36–46.
- Astin, A. & Oseguera, L. (2012). Pre-college and institutional influences on degree attainment.In Seidman, A., (Ed.) *College Student Retention*, (pp.118-146). Rowman & Littlefield.

Atttewell, P., Heil. S., Reisel, L. (2012). What is academic momentum? And does it matter? *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 24(1), 27-44. https://doi.org/10.3102/0162373711421958

Baker-Smith, C., Coca, V., Goldrick-Rab, S., Looker, E. Richardson, B. and Williams, T. (2020)
#RealCollege 2020: five years of evidence on campus basic needs insecurity. *The Hope Center for College, Community, and Justice*. Retrieved from https://hope4college.com/wp-

content/uploads/2020/02/2019\_RealCollege\_Survey\_Report.pdf

- Bandura, A. (1989) Human agency in social cognitive theory the nature and locus of human agency, *American Psychologist*, *44*(9), 1175-1184.
- Bandura, A. (1989). Regulation of cognitive processes through perceived self-efficacy. *Developmental Psychology*, 25(5), 729-735.
- Banks, J. (2016) Expanding the epistemological terrain: increasing equity and diversity within the american educational research association, *Educational Researcher*, *45*(2), 149-158.
- Banks, H.K. (2019) The influence of social and cultural capital on student persistence. In
  Jeffries, R. (Eds.), *Diversity, Equity, and Inclusivity in Contemporary Higher Education*(pp. 56-68). IGI Global. http://doi:10.4018/978-1-5225-5724-1.ch004

- Barouch-Gilbert, A. (2016). Academic probation: student experiences and self-efficacy enhancement. *Journal of Ethnographic & Qualitative Research*, *10*, 153-164.
- Baxter-Magolda, M. (2007). Self-authorship: the foundation for twenty-first-century education. *New Directions for Teaching and Learning*, *109*, 69-83.
- Bean, J., & Eaton, S.B. (2000). A psychological model of college student retention. In(J.M. Braxton, Ed.) *Reworking the Student Departure Puzzle*, (pp.48-61). Vanderbilt University Press.
- Bean, J., & Eaton, S.B. (2001-2002) The psychology underlying successful retention practices. *Journal of College Student Retention*, 3(1), 72-89.
- Bensimon, E. & Malcom, L. (2012) Confronting Equity Issues on Campus: Implementing the Equity Scorecard in Theory and Practice. Stylus.
- Berliner, D. (2002). Educational research: the hardest science of all. *Educational Researcher*, *31*(8), 18-20.
- Berger, J. (2000) Optimizing capital, social reproduction, and undergraduate persistence: a sociological perspective. In Braxton, J.(Ed.) *Reworking the Student Departure Puzzle* (pp.95-124). Vanderbilt University Press.
- Berger, J.; Ramírez, G.; Lyons, S. (2012). Past to present: a historical look at retention. In (Seidman, A., Ed.) *College Student Retention*, (pp.7-34). Rowman & Littlefield.
- Bledsoe, R. (2018) Facing academic dismissal: an adaptive organizational approach for preparing all students for success. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 42(7/8), 550-563.
- Bourdieu, P. (1986) The forms of Capital (Nice, R., Trans.). In Richardson, J. (Ed.), *Handbook* of Theory and Research for the Sociology of Education, (pp.241-58). Greenwood.

- Bowering, E. R., Mills, J., & Merritt, A. (2017). Learning how to learn: A student success course for at risk students. *The Canadian Journal for the Scholarship of Teaching and Learning*, 8(3). https://doi.org/10.5206/cjsotl-rcacea.2017.3.12
- Braxton, J., Hirschy, A., McClendon, S. (2004). Understanding and reducing college student departure. *ASHE-ERIC Higher Education Report*, 30(3).
- Cabrera, A., Castaneda, M., Nora, A., & Hengstler, H. (1992). The convergence between two theories of college persistence. *The Journal of higher Education*, *63*(2), 143-164
- Campbell-Sills, L., Cohan, S., Stein, M. (2006) Relationship of resilience to personality, coping, and psychiatric symptoms in young adults. *Behavior Research and Therapy*,44(4), 585-599.
- Caparo, R. (2004) Men's studies and student development work with college men. *New Directions for Student Services*, 107, 23-34.
- Carbado, D.; Crenshaw, K.; Mays, V. ; Tomlinson, B. (2013). Intersectionality: mapping the movements of a theory. *DuBois Review: Social Science Research on race*. *10*(2),303-312.
- Carden, R., Bryant, C., & Moss, R. (2004). Locus of control, test anxiety, academic procrastination, and achievement among college students. *Psychological Reports*, 95, 581-582. doi:10.2466/pr0.95.2.581-582
- Carson, V., Soeken, K. L., & Grimm, P.M. (1988). Hope and its relationship to spiritual wellbeing. *Journal of Psychology and Theology*, 16, 159–167.
- Cataldi, E.; Bennett, C. Chen, X. (2018) *First-generation students college access, persistence, and post bachelor's outcomes. Statistics in Brief.* US Department of Education. <u>https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2018/2018421.pdf</u>

Chang, E. (1998) Hope, problem-solving ability, and coping in a college student population:

some implications for theory and practice. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, *54*(7),953-962.

Charalambous, M. (2019). Variation in transition to university of life science students: exploring the role of academic and social self-efficacy. *Journal of Further and Higher Education*,

1-14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0309877X.2019.1690642</u>

Chickering, A. (2006). Every student can learn if. About Campus, 9-15.

Ciarrochi, J., Heaven, P. C. L., & Davies, F. (2007). The impact of hope, self-esteem, and attributional style on adolescents' school grades and emotional well-being: A longitudinal study. *Journal of Research in Personality*, *41*(6), 1161–1178.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2007.02.001

Clauss-Ehlers, C. S. (2008). Sociocultural factors, resilience, and coping: Support for a culturally sensitive measure of resilience. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 29(3), 197–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appdev.2008.02.004

Cohen, A. & Brawer, F. (2002). The american community college. (4th ed). Jossey Bass.

- Conger, D., & Long, M. (2010) Why are men falling behind? Gender gaps in college performance and persistence. *The ANNALS of the American Academic Political and Social Science*, 627(1), 184-214. <u>https://www.doi.org/doi:10.1177/0002716209348751</u>
- Conley, C. S., Kirsch, A. C., Dickson, D. A., & Bryant, F. B. (2014). Negotiating the transition to college: developmental trajectories and gender differences in psychological functioning, cognitive-affective strategies, and social well-being. *Emerging Adulthood*, 2, 195-210. <u>http://www.doi.org/doi:10.1177/2167696814521808</u>
- Crenshaw, K. (2015) Why intersectionality cannot wait. *The Washington Post*. Retrieved from https://time.com/5786710/kimberle-crenshaw-intersectionality/.

- Creswell, J. (2014). *Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative and Mixed Method Approaches*. Sage Publications.
- Creswell, J., & Creswell. (2018). *Research Design Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Method Approaches* (5<sup>th</sup> ed). Sage Publications.
- Creswell, J., & Plano Clark, V. (2018). *Designing and Conducting Mixed Methods Research* (3<sup>rd</sup> Ed). Sage Publications.
- Curry, L. A., Snyder, C. R., Cook, D. L., Ruby, B. C., & Rehm, M. (1997). Role of hope in academic and sport achievement. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 73(6), 1257–1267. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.73.6.1257
- Darling-Hammond, L.(1996) The right to learn and the advancement of teaching: research, policy, and practice for democratic education. *Educational Researcher*, 25(6), 5-17.
- Dufrane, K & Leclair, S. (1984) Using Hope in the counseling process. *Counseling and Values*, 29(1), 32-41.
- Dweck, C. (2007). *Mindset: new psychology of success*. Ballantine Books.
- Earl, W. (1988) Intrusive advising of freshman in academic difficulty, *NACADA Journal*, 8(2), 27-33.
- Eaton, S., & Bean, J. (1995). An approach/avoidance behavioral model of college student attrition. *Research in Higher Education*, *36*(6), 617-645.

Eckel, P. & King, J. (2003). An overview of higher education in the United States: diversity, access, and the role of the marketplace. In, Forest, J. & Altbach, P. (Eds) *The International Handbook of Higher Education*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.acenet.edu/Documents/Overview-of-Higher-Education-in-the-United-States-Diversity-Access-and-the-Role-of-the-Marketplace-2004.pdf</u> Ehrenberg, R. (2007). Reducing inequality in higher education. In Dickert-Conlin, S. &Rubenstein, R., (Ed.) *Economic Inequality and higher Education*, (pp. 187-201). RussellSage Foundation.

Ennis-McMillan, M. C., Ammirati, T., Rossi-Reder, A., Tetley, J., & Thacker, R. (2011). *Engaging sophomore students with liberal learning: Focused exploration through academic advising*. (White paper). Fresh thinking for liberal education: Knowledge and know-how for student learning. Teagle Foundation Initiative. Retrieved from http://www.teaglefoundation.org/teagle/media/library/documents/ learning/2011\_skidmore.pdf?ext=.pdf

- Ewert. S. (2012). Fewer diplomas for men: the influence of college experiences on the gender gap in college graduation. *The Journal of higher Education*, 83(6), 824-850. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221546.2012.11777271
- Fain, P. (8 December 2016). Completion and the value of college. *Inside Higher Ed.* Retrieved from <u>https://www.insidehighered.com/news/2016/12/08/experts-talk-about-college-</u> completion-push-and-what-comes-next
- Fain, P. (5 February 2020). Landscape of state performance funding policies. *Inside Higher Ed.* Retrieved from <u>https://www.insidehighered.com/quicktakes/2020/02/05/landscape-state-performance-funding-policies</u>
- Farquhar, M., Ewing, G., Booth, S. (2011). Using mixed methods to develop and evaluate complex interventions in palliative care research. *Palliative Medicine*, 25(8), 748-757.
- Feldman, D., & Kubota, M. (2015). Hope, self-efficacy, optimism, and academic achievement: distinguishing constructs and levels of specificity in predicting college grade-point average. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 37, 210-216.

- Finn, J. D., & Rock, D. A. (1997). Academic success among students at risk for school failure. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 82(2), 221–234. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-</u> 9010.82.2.221
- Friedlander, J. (1980). *The importance of quality of effort in predicting college student attainment*. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, The University of California-Los Angeles.
- Fletcher, D. & Sarkar, M. (2013) Psychological resilience: a review and critique of definitions, concepts, and theory. *European Psychologist*, *18*(1), 12-23.
- Gahagan, J. (2018). Institutional policies that impact sophomore success. *New Directions for Higher Education*, 183, 85-95.
- Gahagan, J., & Hunter, M. (2006). The second-year experience: turning attention to the academy's middle children. *About Campus: Enriching the Student Learning Experience*, 11(3), 17-22. <u>https://www.doi.org/doi:10.1002/abc.168</u>
- García, G.A. (2019) *Becoming Hispanic-serving institutions: opportunities for colleges & universities.* John Hopkins University Press.
- Garing, M.(1993). Intrusive academic advising. *New Directions for Community Colleges*, 82, 97-104.
- Gifford, D., Briceño-Perriott, J., & Mianzo, F. (2006) Locus of control: academic achievement and retention in a sample of university first-year students. *Journal of College Admissions*, 191, 18-25.
- Gillespie, M. & Noble, J. (1992). Factors Affecting Student Persistence: A longitudinal Study.US Department of Education: American College Testing Program.

Gold, J., Neuruer, J., & Miller, M. (2000). Disenfranchised grief among first-semester male

university students: implications for systemic and individual interventions. *Journal of the First Year Experience*, *12*(1), 7–27.

- Goldrick-Rab, S. (2020, March 31). Coronavirus crisis spotlights the inequities in college financial aid. *The Hechinger Report*. Retrieved from <a href="https://hechingerreport.org/opinion-coronavirus-crisis-spotlights-the-inequities-in-college-financial-aid/">https://hechingerreport.org/opinion-coronavirus-crisis-spotlights-the-inequities-in-college-financial-aid/</a>
- Goodman, J., Schlossberg, N., & Anderson, M. (2006). *Counseling adults in transition: linking practice with theory* (3<sup>rd</sup> ed.). Springer Publishing Co.

Gratz et al. v. Bollinger et al., 539 U.S. 244 (2003). https://www.loc.gov/item/usrep539244/

- Greene, J. (2006). Toward a methodology of mixed method inquiry. *Research in The Schools*, *13*(1), 93-98.
- Greene, J. (2008). Is mixed methods social inquiry a distinctive methodology? *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 2(1), 7-22.
- Greene, J. (2012). Engaging critical issues in social inquiry by mixing methods. *American Behavior Scientist*, 56(6), 755-773.

Grutter v. Bollinger et al., 539 U.S. 3065 (2003). https://www.loc.gov/item/usrep539306/

- Guzman, W. (2020, October 14). 'College students are the ones really suffering here': students discuss financial impact of the pandemic, budgeting. *The State News*. Retrieved from <u>https://statenews.com/article/2020/10/college-students-budgeting-amid-employment-</u>uncertainties?ct=content\_open&cv=cbox\_featured
- Hagedorn, L. (2012). How to define retention: a new look at an old problem. In Seidman, A.,(Ed.) *College Student Retention*, (pp.81-100). Rowman & Littlefield.
- Hamman, K. (2018). Factors that contribute to the likeliness of academic recovery. *Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory, and Practice*, 20(2), 162-175.

- Harper, S. & Hurtado, S. (2007) Nine themes in campus racial climates and implications for institutional transformation. *New Directions for Student Services*, 120, 7-24.
- Harper, S. ; Patton, L.; Wooden, O. (2009) Access and equity for African American students in higher education: a critical race historical analysis of policy efforts. *The Journal of Higher Education*, 80(4), 389-414.
- Heisserer, D. & Parette, P. (2002) Advising at-risk students in college and university settings. *College Student Journal*, 36, 69-83.

Higher Education Act of 1965, Pub. L. No. 89-329, (1965).

https://www.wisconsin.edu/government-

relations/download/the\_washington\_view\_blog/The-Higher-Education-Act-(HEA)---A-Primer.pdf

Higher Education Act of 1965, Higher Education Act Amendments, Federal TRIO programs, Sec. 402A. 20 U.S.C. (1998). <u>https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ope/trio/triohea.pdf</u>

Higher Education Opportunity Act, H.R.4137, Pub. L. No. 110-315, (2008).

https://www.congress.gov/bill/110th-congress/house-bill/4137

- Hood, D. (1992). Academic and noncognitive factors affecting the retention of black men at a predominately white university. *The Journal of Negro Education*, *61*(1), 12-23.
- Hope, L. (2010) *Literature Review of Student Success Courses*. The Carnegie Foundation for the Advancement of Teaching. Retrieved from

http://archive.carnegiefoundation.org/publications/pdfs/elibrary/student\_success\_courses.

<u>pdf</u>

Hopwood v. Texas, 78 F.3d 932 (5th Cir. 1996).

https://law.justia.com/cases/federal/appellate-courts/F3/78/932/504514/

Humphreys, D. (2012). What's wrong with the completion agenda. Liberal Education, 98(1).

- Hurtado, S. & Carter, D. (1997). Effects of college transition and perceptions of the campus racial climate on Latino college students' sense of belonging, *Sociology of Education*, *70*(4), 324-345.
- Irving, L., Snyder, C.R., & Crowson, J. (1998) Hope and coping with cancer by college women. *Journal of Personality*, 66(2), 195-214
- Ishitani, T. (2003). A longitudinal approach to assessing attrition behavior among firstgeneration students: time-varying effects of pre-college characteristics. *Research in Higher Education*, 44(4), 433-449.
- Ishitani, T. (2006). Studying attrition and degree completion behavior among first-generation students in the United States. *The Journal of Higher Education*, 77(5), 861-885. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221546.2006.11778947
- Ishitani, T. (2016). Time-varying effects of academic and social integration on student persistence for first and second years in college: national data approach. *Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory, & Practice, 18*(3), 263-286.
- Ishitani, T. & DesJardins, S. (2002). A longitudinal investigation of dropout from college in the united states. *Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory, & Practice*, 4(2),173-201. https://doi.org/10.2190/V4EN-NW42-742Q-2NTL
- Johnson, R. B., & Onwuegbuzie, A. (2004). Mixed methods research: a research paradigm whose time has come. *Educational Researcher*, *33*(7), 14-26.
- Johnson, R. B., Onwuegbuzie, A., & Turner, L. (2007). Toward a definition of mixed methods research. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, *1*(2), 112-133.

Johnson, D., Wasserman, T., Yildirim, N., & Yonai, B. (2014) Examining the effects of stress

and campus climate on the persistence of students of color and white students: an application of Bean and Eaton's psychological model of retention. *Research in Higher Education* (55), 75-100.

- Johnson-Powell, G., & Yamamoto, J. (Eds.). (1997). *Transcultural child development: Psychological assessment and treatment*. New York: Wiley.
- Jones, H., Manze, M., Ngo, V., Lamberson, P., Fruedenberg, N. (2021) The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on college students' health and financial stability in new york city. *J Urban Health*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11524-020-00506-x
- Kennedy, K. & Upcraft, M.L. (2010). Keys to student success: a look at the literature. In M. Hunter, B. Tobolowsky, J. Gardner, S. Evenbeck, J. Pattengale, M. Schaller, L. Schreiner, & associates (Eds.), *Helping Sophomores Succeed: Understanding and Improving the Second-Year Experience* (pp.30-42). Jossey Bass.
- Keup, J., Gahagan, J., Goodwin, R. (2008). National survey of sophomore-year initiatives: curricular and cocurricular structure supporting the success of second-year college students. *Research Reports on College Transitions*. National Resource Center for the First-Year Experience and Students in Transition.
- Kezar, A. & Eckel, P. (2002) The effect of institutional culture on change strategies in higher
   Education: universal principles or culturally responsive concepts?. *The Journal of Higher Education*, 73(4), 435-460.
- Kezar, A. & Eckel, P. (2007) Learning to ensure the success of students of color: a systemic approach to affecting change. *Change Magazine*, *39*(4), 18-24.

Kinzie, J. (2012) A new view of Student success. In Schreiner, L., Louis, M., & Nelson, D.

(Eds). *Thriving in Transitions: A Research-Based Approach to College Student Success* (pp. xxiii-xxxii). National Resource Center for The First Year Experience & Students in Transition.

- Kramer, A. (2016). Claude steele explains stereotype threat. *The Brown Daily Herald*, retrieved from <u>https://www.browndailyherald.com/2016/11/10/professor-explains-stereotype-</u>threat/
- Kuh, G. & Whitt, E. (1988). The invisible tapestry. Culture in american colleges and universities. ASHE-ERIC Higher Education, 1.
- Ladson-Billings, G. & Tate, W. (1995) Toward a critical race theory of education. *Teachers College Record*, 97(1), 47-68.
- Ladson-Billings, G. (2006) From the achievement gap to the education debt: understanding achievement in U.S. schools. *Educational Researcher*, *35*(7), 3-12.
- Ladson-Billings, G. (2014) Culturally relevant pedagogy 2.0: aka the remix. *Harvard Educational Review*, 84(1), 74-84.
- Leeson, P., Ciarrochi, J., Heaven, C.L. (2008) Cognitive ability, personality, and academic performance in adolescence. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *45*(7), 630-635.
- Leipold, B. & Greve, W. (2009) Resilience: a conceptual bridge between coping and development. *European Psychologist*, *14*, 40-50.
- Levine, P. (2021, February 17). The economic case for doubling the pell grant. *The Brookings Institution*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.brookings.edu/research/the-economic-case-for-doubling-the-pell-grant/</u>

Lindo, J., Sanders, N., & Oreopoulous, P. (2010) Ability, gender, performance standards:

evidence from academic probation. *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics*, 2(2), 95-117.

- London, H. (1989) Breaking away: a study of first-generation college students and their families. *American Journal of Education*, 97(2), 144-170.
- Luthar, S., Cicchetti, D., Becker, B. (2000). The construct of resilience: a critical evaluation and guidelines for future work. *Child Development*, *71*(3), 543-562.
- Lyman, P. (1987) The fraternal bond as a joking relationship. In M. S. Kimmel (Ed.), *Changing Men: New Directions in Research on Men and Masculinity*. Sage Publishing.
- Madaus, J., Kowitt, J., & Lalor, A. (2012). The higher education opportunity act: impact on students with disabilities. *Rehabilitation Education*, 26(1), 33-42.
- Marques, S., Gallagher, M., Lopez, S. (2017). Hope and academic-related outcomes: a metaanalysis. *School Mental Health*, *9*, 250-262.
- Martin Lohfink, M. & Paulsen, M. B. (2005). Comparing the Determinants of Persistence for First-Generation and Continuing-Generation Students. *Journal of College Student Development*, 46(4), 409-428. Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Masten, A. & Obradović, J. (2006). Competence and resilience in development. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *1094*(1), 13-27.
- Mathies, C., Gardner, D, & Bauer, K.W. (2006) Retention and graduation: An examination of students who earn academic probation. *Office of Institutional Research, The University* of Georgia. Arlington, VA: The University of Georgia.
- Mattson, C. (2007) Beyond admission: understanding pre-college variables and the success of atrisk students, *Journal of College Admission*, *196*, 8-13.

McGrath, S. M., & Burd, G. D. (2012). A success course for freshmen on academic probation:

Persistence and graduation outcomes. NACADA Journal, 32(1), 43–52.

- McMahon, M. (2013). Underprepared College Students. Research Starters: Education (Online Edition).
- McNair, T.; Bensimon, E., & Malcom-Piqeux, L. (2020). From Equity Talk to Equity Walk: Expanding Practitioner Knowledge for Racial Justice in Higher Education. Jossey-Bass.
- Melguizo, T. (2011) A review of the theories developed to describe the process of college persistence and attainment. In J. Smart & M. Paulsen (Eds) *Higher Education: Handbook of Theory and Research,* (pp.395-424). Springer.
- Merriam, S. & Tisdell, E. (2015). *Qualitative Research: A Guide to Design and Implementation*, Jossey-Bass.
- Multon, K.D., Brown, S.D., & Lent, R.W. (1991). Relation of self-efficacy beliefs to academic outcomes: A meta-analytic investigation. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, *38*, 30-38.
- Museus, S. & Quaye, S. (2009) Toward an intercultural perspective of racial and ethnic minority college student persistence. *The Review of higher Education*, *33*(1), 67-94.

Miles, M., & Huberman, A.M. (1994). *Qualitative Data Analysis* (2<sup>nd</sup> Ed.). Sage Publications.

National Center for Education Statistics. (2018, October). *Total fall enrollment in degree*granting postsecondary institutions, by level of enrollment, sex, attendance status, and race/ethnicity or nonresident alien status of student: Selected years, 1976 through 2017. Digest of Education Statistics, U.S. Department of Education.

https://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d18/tables/dt18\_306.10.asp.

National Center for Education Statistics. (2019). *The condition of Education 2019*. U.S.
Department of Education. https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2019/2019144.pdf
National Center for Education Statistics. (2019, February). *Indicator 23: Postsecondary*

Graduation Rates. U.S. Department of Education.

https://nces.ed.gov/programs/raceindicators/indicator\_red.asp

National Center for Education Statistics. (2020, April). *Characteristics of Postsecondary Students*. U.S. Department of Education.

https://nces.ed.gov/programs/coe/indicator\_csb.asp.

- Nora, A. & Crisp, G. (2012). Student persistence and degree attainment. In Seidman, A. (Ed.), *College Student Retention* (pp. 229-249). Rowman & Littlefield.
- Olmstead, S.N., Roberson, P., & Fincham, F. (2016). Early psychological distress is a precursor to college men's later academic and social adjustment. *College Student Journal*, 50(1), 53–58.
- Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Daley, C. E. (1998). Study skills of undergraduates as a function of academic locus of control, self-perception, and social interdependence. *Psychological Reports*, 83(2), 595–598. <u>https://doi.org/10.2466/pr0.1998.83.2.595</u>
- Orbe, M. (2008). Theorizing multidimensional identity negations: reflections on the lived experiences of first-generation college students. *New Directions for child an Adolecent Development*, 120, 81-95.
- Ory, J. C., & Braskamp, L. A. (1988). Involvement and growth of students in three academic programs. *Research in Higher Education*, 28, 116–129.
- O'Shea, S. (2016) Avoiding the manufacture of 'sameness': first-generation students, cultural capital and the higher education environment. *Higher Education*,72, 59-78.

Oxford Languages. (n.d.) Retrieved March 17, 2021, from google search engine.

Park, C., & Levenson, M. (2002) Drinking to cope among college students: prevalence,

problems, and coping processes. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol*, 63(4), 486-497. https://doi.org/10.15288/jsa.2002.63.486

- Parker, J., & Schmidt, J. (1982). Effects of college experience. In H. Mitzel (Ed.), *Encyclopedia* of Educational Research (5th ed.). New York: Free Press.
- Pascarella, E., & Terenzini, P. (1991). *How college affects students*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Pascarella, E., Pierson, C., Wolniak, G., & Terenzini, P. (2004) First-generation college students: additional evidence on college experiences and outcomes. *The Journal of Higher Education*.75(3), 249-284.

Pascarella, E., & Terenzini, P. (2005) How College Affects Students: Vol. 2. Jossey Bass.

- Pinhel, R. (2008). Higher education opportunity act of 2008, OLR Research Report, Connecticut General Assembly. <u>https://www.cga.ct.gov/2008/rpt/2008-R-</u> 0470.htm#:~:text=The%20president%20signed%20the%20Higher,law%20on%20August %2014%2C%202008.&text=It%20addresses%20simplifying%20the%20federal,educatio n%20institutions%20and%20student%20lenders.
- Posselt, J.; Jacquette, O.; Bielby, R.; & Bastedo, M. (2012) Access without equity: longitudinal analyses of institutional stratification by race and ethnicity, 1972-2004. *American Educational Research Journal*, 49(6), 1074-1111.
- Rendón, L. (1994) Validating culturally diverse students: towards a new model of learning and student development. *Innovative Higher Education*, *19*(1), 33-52.
- Rendón, L., Jalomo, R., & Nora, A. (2000) Theoretical considerations in the study of minority student retention in higher education. In Braxton, J.(Ed.) *Reworking the Student Departure Puzzle* (pp.127-156). Vanderbilt University Press.

- Renzulli, S. (2015). Using learning strategies to improve the academic performance of university students on academic probation. *NACADA Journal*, 35(1), 29-41.
- Rogers, K., Summers, J. (2008) African American students at predominantly white institutions: a motivational and self-systems approach to understanding retention. *Educational Psychology Review*, 20, 171-190.
- Roksa, J., Grodsky, E., Arum, R. & Gamoran, A. (2007) United states: changes in higher education and social stratification. In Shavit, Y., Arum, R., & Gamoran, A. (Eds) *Stratification in Higher Education: A Comparative Study* (pp. 165-194). Stanford University Press.
- Rotter, J. B. (1966). Generalized expectancies for internal versus external control of reinforcement. *Psychological Monographs*, 80 (609).
- Roulston, K. (2010) Theorizing the qualitative interview. In, *Reflective Interviewing: A Guide to Theory and Practice* (pp. 1-24). Sage Publications.

Saldaña, J. (2009). The Coding Manual for Qualitative Researchers. Sage Publications.

- Schaller, M. A. (2005). Wandering and wondering traversing the uneven terrain of the second college year. *About Campus*, 10(3), 17–24. https://doi.org/10.1002/abc.131
- Schaller, M. (2010). Understanding the impact of the second year of college. In M.
  Hunter, B. Tobolowsky, J. Gardner, S. Evenbeck, J. Pattengale, M. Schaller, L.
  Schreiner, & associates (Eds.), *Helping Sophomores Succeed: Understanding and Improving the Second-Year Experience* (pp.13-29). Jossey Bass.
- Schaller, M. (2018). Intentional design of the college sophomore year. *New Directions For Higher Education*, 183, 23- 34.

Schlossberg, N. (1989). Marginality and mattering, key issues in building community. New

Directions for Student Services, 48, 5-15.

- Schlossberg, N.K. (2008). Overwhelmed: Coping with life's ups and downs (2nd ed.) M Evans & Company Inc.
- Schreiner, L. (2012) From surviving to thriving during transitions. In Schreiner, L., Louis, M., & Nelson, D. (Eds.), *Thriving in Transitions: A Research-Based Approach to College Student Success* (pp. 1-18). National Resource Center for The First Year Experience & Students in Transition.
- Schreiner, L. (2018). Thriving in the second year of college: pathways to success. *New Directions in Higher Education*, *183*, 9-21. http://doi.org/doi:10.1002/he.20289
- Schreiner, L. & Pattengale, J.(Eds.) (2000). Visible Solutions for Invisible Students: Helping
   Sophomores Succeed. Monograph Series No. 31. National Resource Center for the First
   Year Experience and Students in Transition.
- Schreiner, L., Schaller, M. & Young, D. (2018). Future directions for enhancing sophomore success. *New Directions for higher Education*, 183, 109-112. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.002/he.20297</u>
- Schudde, L., & Scott-Clayton, J. (2016). Pell grants as performance-based scholarships? An examination of satisfactory academic progress requirements in the nation's largest needbased aid program. *Research in Higher Education*, 57, 943-967.
- Schwarzer, R., & Jerusalem M. (1995) Generalized self-efficacy scale. In J. Weinman, S.
  Wright, & M. Johnston (Eds.), *Measures in health psychology: A user's portfolio causal* and control beliefs (pp.35-37). NFER-NELSON.
- Seccombe, K. (2002). "Beating the odds" versus "changing the odds": Poverty resilience and family policy. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, *64*(2), 384-394.

- Seidman, A. (2005) Minority student retention: resources for practitioners. *New Directions of Institutional Research*, 125, 7-24.
- Seirup, H., & Rose, S. (2011). Exploring the effects of hope on GPA and retention among college undergraduate students on academic probation. *Education Research International*, 2011, 1-7. http:///www.doi.org/doi:10.1155/2011/381429
- Sherer, M., Maddux, J., Mercandante, B., Prentice-Dunn, S., Jacobs, B., & Rogers, R. (1982). The self-efficacy scale: construction and validation. *Psychological Reports*, 51, 663-671.
- Sinclair, V., & Wallston, K. (2004). The development and psychometric evaluations of the brief resilient coping scale. *Assessment*, *11*(1), 94-102.
- Sisney, S., Strickler, B., Tyler, M. A., Wilhoit, C, Duke, M. and Nowicki, S. Jr., (2000). *Reducing the dropout rates of at-risk high school students: The effective learning program.* Emory University.
- Skyfactor Mapworks. (2017). Second-term behavior of students on academic probation. Retrieved from <u>https://www.skyfactor.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/2017-Fall-</u> Probation-Students-in-Spring-Research-Note.pdf
- Skyfactor Mapworks. (2017). Second-term behavior of students on academic probation. Retrieved from <u>https://www.skyfactor.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/2017-Fall-</u> <u>Probation-Students-in-Spring-Research-Note.pdf</u>
- Snyers, E. & DeWitte, K. (2018) Interventions in higher education and their effect on student success: a meta-analysis. *Educational Review*, 70(2), 208-228.
- Snyder, C. (1995). The psychology of hope: you can get there from here. Free Press.
- Snyder, C. (2002). Hope theory: rainbows in the mind. *Psychological Inquiry*, 13(4), 249-275.
- Snyder, C., Harris, C., Anderson, J., Holleran, D., Irving, L., Sigmon, S., Bshinobu, L., Gibb, J.

Langelle, C., & Harney, P. (1991). The will and the ways: development and validation of an individual differences measure of hope. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *60*(4), 570-585.

- Snyder, C. R., Ilardi, S. S., Cheavens, J., Michael, S. T., Yamhure, L., & Sympson, S. (2000). The role of hope in cognitive behavior therapies. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 24, 747–762.
- Snyder, C. R., Rand, K. L., & Sigmon, D. R. (2002). Hope theory: A member of the positive psychology family. In C. R. Snyder & S. J. Lopez (Eds.), *Handbook of positive psychology* (p. 257–276). Oxford University Press.
- Snyder, C. Shorey, H., Cheavens, J., Pulvers, K., Adams, V., & Wiklund, C. (2002). Hope and academic success in college. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *94*(4), 820-826.
- Solórzano, D., Ceja, M., & Yosso, T. (2000). Critical race theory, racial microaggressions, and campus racial climate: the experiences of African American college students. *The Journal of Negro Education*, 62(1/2), 60-73.
- Son, C., Hegde, S., Smith, A. Wang, X., & Sasangohar, F. (2020). Effects of COVID-19 on college students' mental health in the United States: interview survey study. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 22(9). https://doi.org/ doi: 10.2196/21279.
- Sriram, R., & Vetter, D. (2012) Thriving in high-risk students. In L. Schreiner, M. Louis &
  D. Nelson (Eds.), *Thriving in Transitions: A Research-Based Approach to College Student Success* (pp. 87-110). National Resource Center for The First Year Experience &
  Students in Transition.
- Steele, C. (1997). A threat in the air how stereotypes shape intellectual identity and performance. *American Psychologist*, 52(6), 613-629.

- Steele, C. M. (1999). The psychology of self-affirmation: sustaining the integrity of the self. In
  R. F. Baumeister (Ed.), *Key readings in social psychology. The self in social psychology* (pp. 372–390). Psychology Press.
- Steinberg, S. & Canella, G. (Eds). (2012) Critical Qualitative Research Reader, Vol. 2. Peter Lang Inc., International Academic Publisher.
- Tashakkori, A., & Teddlie, C. (2015). Sage Handbook of Mixed Methods in Social & Behavioral Research. Sage Publications.
- Tamres, L., Janicki, D., & Helgeson, V. (2002). Sex differences in coping behavior: a mentaanalytic review and an examination of relative coping. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 6(1), 2-30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327957PSPR0601\_1</u>
- Tello, A. & Lonn, M. (2017) The role of high school and college counselors in supporting the psychosocial and emotional needs of latinx first-generation college students. *The Professional Counselor*, 7(7), 349-359.
- Terenzini, P. & Wright, T. (1987) Influences on students' academic growth during four years of college. *Research in Higher Education*, *26*(2), 161-180.
- Thombs, D. (1995). Problem behavior and academic achievement among first-semester college freshman. *Journal of College Student Development*, *36*(3), 280-288.
- Terenzini, P. & Wright, T. (1987) Influences on students' academic growth during four years of college. *Research in Higher Education*, 26(2), 161-180.
- Tierney, W. (1992). An anthropological analysis of student participation in college. *The Journal of Higher Education*, *63*(6), 603-618.
- Tierney, W. (2000) Power, identity, and the dilemma of college departure. In Braxton, J.(Ed.) *Reworking the Student Departure Puzzle* (pp.213-234). Vanderbilt University Press.

- Tinto, V. (1975). Dropout from higher education: a theoretical synthesis of recent research. *Review of Educational Research*, *45*(1), 89-125.
- Tinto, V. (1993). Leaving college: Rethinking the causes and cures of student attrition. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Tinto, V. (2017) Through the eyes of students. *Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory & Practice, 19*(3), 254-269.
- Titus, M. (2004). An examination of the influence of institutional context on student persistence at 4-year colleges and universities: a multilevel approach. *Research in Higher Education*, 45(7), 673-699.
- Tobin, D., Holroyd, K., Reynolds, R., & Wigal, J. (1989) The hierarchical structure of the coping strategies inventory. *Cognitive therapy and research*, 13(4), 343-361. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01173478
- Tobolowsky, B. (2008). Sophomores in transition: the forgotten year. *New Directions for Higher Education*, 144, 59-67.
- Tobolowsky, B. F., & Cox, B. E. (2007). Findings from the 2005 National Survey on Sophomore Initiatives. In B. F. Tobolowsky & B. E. Cox (Eds.), *Shedding light on sophomores: An exploration of the second college year* (pp. 13–30). Monograph No. 47. Columbia, SC: National Resource Center for the First-Year experience and Students in Transition, University of South Carolina.
- Tong, E., Fredrickson, B., Chang, Weining, C., Lim, Z.X. (2010). Re-examining hope: The roles of agency thinking and pathways thinking. *Cognition and Emotion*, 24(7), 1207-1215.
  DOI: 10.1080/02699930903138865

Tovar, E. (2013) A conceptual model on the impact of mattering, sense of belonging,

engagement/involvement, and socio-academic integrative experiences on community college students' intent to persist. (CGU Thesis & Dissertations, Paper 81). Claremont Graduate University, Claremont, CA.

- Tovar, E., & Simon, M. (2010) Factorial structure and invariance analysis of the sense of belonging scales. *Measurement and Evaluation in Counseling and Development*, 43, 199-217.
- Trice, A. (1985). An academic locus of control scale for college students. *Perceptual & Motor Skills*, 61, 1043-1046.
- Tugade, M., Fredrickson, B., Barrett, L. (2004) Psychological resilience and positive emotional granularity: examining the benefits of positive emotions on coping and health. *Journal of Personality*, 72(6), 1161-1190.
- Ungar, M. (2004) A constructionist discourse on resilience: Multiple contexts, multiple realities among at-risk children and youth. *Youth and Society*, *35*, 341–365.
- Ungar, M. (2008). Resilience across cultures. British Journal of Social Work, 38, 218–235.
- Ungar, M. (2012). Researching and theorizing resilience across cultures and context. *Preventive Medicine*, 55(5), 387-389.
- University of California Regents v. Bakke, 438 U.S. 265 (1978).

https://www.loc.gov/item/usrep438265/

Wei, M., Russell, D. W., & Zakalik, R. A. (2005). Adult attachment, social self-efficacy, selfdisclosure, loneliness, and subsequent depression for freshmen college students: a longitudinal study. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 52, 602-614. <u>https://www.doi.org/doi:10.1037/0022-0167.52.4.602</u>

Weiner, B. (1980). A cognitive (attribution)-emotion-action model of motivated behavior: An

analysis of judgments of help-giving. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *39*(2), 186–200. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.39.2.186

- Wilson, C., Babcock, S., & Saklosfske, D. (2019). Sinking or swimming in an academic pool: a study of resiliency and student success in first-year undergraduates. *Canadian Journal* of Higher Education, 49(1), 60-84.
- Yarcheski, A., Scoloveno, M. A., & Mahon, N. E. (1994). Social support and well-being in adolescents: The mediating role of hopefulness. *Nursing Research*, 43(5), 288–292. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00006199-199409000-00006</u>
- Young, T., Turnage-Butterbaugh, I., Degges-White, S., & Mossing, S. (2015). Wellness among undergraduate students on academic probation: implications for college counselors. *Journal of College Counseling*, *18*(3), 222-232.
- Zimmerman, P., & Iwanski, A. (2014). Emotion regulation from early adolescence to emerging adulthood and middle adulthood: Age differences, gender differences, and emotionspecific developmental variations. *International Journal of Behavior Development*, 38(2), 182-194. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0165025413515405</u>

## APPENDIX A: IRB APPROVAL LETTER



# California State University SAN MARCOS

#### Institutional Review Board for the Protection of Human Subjects (IRB)

California State University San MarcosSan Marcos, CA 92096-0001Tel: 760.750.4029.Fax: 760.750.3150irb@csusm.eduirb@csusm.eduwww.csusm.edu/irb

DATE:	November 19, 2020
TO:	Ashley Gragido
FROM:	California State University, San Marcos Institutional Review Board
PROJECT TITLE:	[1531110-3] Hope in Academic Recovery: A Study of an Academic ProbationStudent Success Course
REFERENCE #:	
SUBMISSION TYPE:	Amendment/Modification
ACTION:	APPROVED
APPROVAL DATE:	November 19,
2020EXPIRATION DATE:	N/A
REVIEW TYPE:	Expedited Review

This letter certifies that the above referenced project was reviewed and APPROVED by the CSUSM Institutional Review Board (IRB) in accordance with the requirements of the Code of Federal Regulations on Protection of Human Subjects (45 CFR 46), including its relevant subparts. Please note that all research records must be retained for a minimum of three years after the completion of the project.

If applicable, all approved forms and materials (consent forms, information forms, flyers etc.) have been uploaded to IRBNet under "Board" documents. Only approved consent forms may be used to obtain participant consent.

### **Modifications to Research Protocol**

Changes to this protocol (procedures, populations, locations, personnel, etc.) must be submitted and approved by the IRB prior to implementation using the "Minor Modification" application form available on IRBNet.

### **Unanticipated Outcomes/Events**

All UNANTICIPATED PROBLEMS involving risks to subjects or others and SERIOUS and UNEXPECTEDadverse events must be reported promptly to this committee. Please use the appropriate reporting

forms for this procedure. All FDA and sponsor reporting requirements should also be followed. All

NON-COMPLIANCE issues or COMPLAINTS regarding this project must be reported promptly to thiscommittee.

### **Continuing Review**

Continuing reviews for limited/expedited protocols are no longer required as part of the IRB process, per the partial early implementation of the federal Common Rule policy retroactive from July 19th, 2018. Should any changes to your study occur, please submit a minor modification using the application form available on IRBNet. If this is a full review, please submit a continuing review at least 30 days before the annual expiration date.

If you have any questions, please contact the IRB office at CSUSM by calling (760) 750-4029 or by email to <u>irb@csusm.edu</u>. Please include your project title and reference number in all correspondence with this committee.

Wishing you well with your

research,CSUSM IRB

# APPENDIX B: ADULT HOPE SCALE (AHS)

Subscale
(A/P)
Р
А
Р
Р
Р
А
٨
А
А

Scale: 1-4

# APPENDIX C: ACADEMIC LOCUS OF CONTROL – REVISED (ALC-R)

### **ALC-** Questions

I have largely determined my own career goals.

There has been at least one instance where social activity impaired my academic performance.

I consider myself highly motivated to achieve success in life. Doing work on time is always important to me. I feel I will someday make a real contribution to the world if I work hard at it. I would like to graduate from college, but there are more important things in my life.

Studying every day is important. I never feel really hopeless-there is always something I can do to improve my situation.

I plan well and stick to my plans. I am a good writer.

I would never allow social activities to affect my studies. SCALE: 0-1

# APPENDIX D: COPING STRATEGIES INVENTORY-SHORT FORM (CSI-SF)

Question	Factor
I make a plan of action and follow it	2
I look for the silver lining or try to look on the bright side of things	2
I try to spend time alone	4
I hope the problem will take care of itself	3
I try to talk about it with a friend or family	1
I try to put the problem out of my mind	3
I tackle the problem head on	2
I step back from the situation and try to put things into perspective	2
I tend to blame myself	4
I let my feelings out to reduce the stress	1
I hope for a miracle	3
I ask a close friend or relative that I respect for help or advice	1
I try not to think about the problem	3
I tend to criticize myself	4
Scale:1-5	

# APPENDIX E: SELF EFFICACY SCALE (SES)

### Question

If someone opposes me, I can find means and ways to get what I want.

It is easy for me to stick to my aims and accomplish my goals.

I am confident that I could deal efficiently with unexpected events.

Thanks to my resourcefulness, I know how to handle unforeseen situations.

I can remain calm when facing difficulties because I can rely on my coping abilities.

No matter what comes my way I'm usually able to handle it.

*Scale: 1-4*